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NOTICE 

OF 

MEETING OF COUNCIL 
 
 
 
A meeting of the Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario (CPSO) 
will take place in person on June 8th, 2023, in the Council Chamber of the College, at 80 
College Street, Toronto, Ontario. This meeting is the Annual Financial Meeting of Council.   
 
Due to an increased number of serious threats and concern for the safety of College staff 
and Council members, CPSO has made the difficult decision to limit public access to our 
building, including our quarterly Council meetings. Accordingly, the public will not be able 
to attend this Council meeting in person.  
 
The meeting will be streamed live on YouTube. Members of the public who wish to 
observe the meeting can access the YouTube stream that will be posted on the CPSO’s 
website in advance of the meeting.   
 
The meeting will convene at 9:00 a.m. on June 8th, 2023. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Nancy Whitmore, MD, FRCSC, MBA 
Registrar and Chief Executive Officer  

 
May 9, 2023 

https://www.cpso.on.ca/en/About/Council/Council-Meetings
https://www.cpso.on.ca/en/About/Council/Council-Meetings


 
 

Council Meeting Agenda  
Annual Financial Meeting  
June 8, 2023 

 
THURSDAY, JUNE 8, 2023 
 

Item Time Topic and Objective(s) Purpose Page No. 

* 8:30 am 
(30 mins) INFORMAL NETWORKING (Breakfast available in the Dining Room) 

1 9:00 am 
(10 mins) 

Call to Order and Welcoming Remarks  
(R. Gratton) 
• Participate in roll call and declare any conflicts of 

interest 

Discussion N/A 

2 9:10 am 
(5 mins) 

Consent Agenda (R. Gratton) 
2.1  Approve Council meeting agenda 
2.2  Approve draft minutes from Council meeting held 

on March 2-3, 2023 and the draft minutes from the 
Special Council meeting held April 14, 2023 

Approval 
(with motion)  

 
 

1-49 
 
 

3 9:15 am 
(5 mins) 

 

Items for information: 
3.1 Executive Committee Report 
3.2 Ontario Physicians and Surgeons Discipline 

Tribunal Cases 
3.3 Government Relations Report 
3.4 Finance and Audit Committee Report 
3.5 Policy Report 
3.6 Medical Learners Report 
3.7 Update on Council Action Items  

Information  
50-51 
52-56 

 
57-62 

63 
64-67 
68-70 
71-78 

4 9:20 am 
(60 mins) 

CEO/Registrar’s Report (N. Whitmore) Discussion N/A 

5 10:20 am 
(10 mins) 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    

President’s Report (R. Gratton) Discussion N/A 

* 10:30 am 
(20 mins) NUTRITION BREAK 

6 10:50 am 
(30 mins) 

 

Governance Committee Report (J. van Vlymen) 
6.1   Council Elections Update 
6.2   Executive Committee Elections 
 
6.3   Committee Appointments 
 
6.4   2024 Voting Academic Representative 

Selection 

 
Information 

Decision 
(with Motion) 

Decision 
(with Motion) 

Decision 
(with Motion) 

 
 

79-88 
 

89-91 
 

92-94 



Item Time Topic and Objective(s) Purpose Page No. 

7 11:20 am 
(20 mins) 

Final Approval: Revised Draft Out-of-Hospital 
Premises Standards (L. Reid, T. Terzis, C. Brown,  
J. Kitchen)  
• Council is asked to consider approving the revised 

standards regarding Out-of-Hospital Premises  

Decision 
(with motion) 

95-149 

8 11:40 am 
(20 mins) 

 

Draft Policies for Consultation: Academic Registration 
and Specialist Recognition Criteria in Ontario  
(S. Tulipano) 
• Council is asked to consider whether the draft 

policies can be released for consultation   

Decision 
(with motion) 

150-159 

* 12:00 pm 
(60 mins) LUNCH  

9 1:00 pm 
(20 mins) 

 

Draft Policy for Consultation: Practice Ready 
Assessment and potential fees (S. Tulipano) 
• Council is asked to consider whether the draft 

policy can be released for consultation  

Decision 
(with motion) 

160-194 

10 1:20 pm 
(20 mins) 

 

Draft Policies for Consultation: Recognition of RCPSC 
Subspecialist Affiliate Status and Specialist 
Recognition Criteria in Ontario (S. Tulipano) 
• Council is asked to consider whether the draft 

policies can be released for consultation 

Decision 
(with motion) 

195-202 

11 1:40 pm 
(5 mins) 

 

Approval Item: Waiver of Certain Fees Under the 
Residents Working Additional Hours for Pay 
(“Moonlighting”) Policy (S. Tulipano) 
• Council is asked to consider approving waiving the 

application fees for residents applying under the 
Residents Working Additional Hours for Pay 
(“Moonlighting”) Policy 

Decision 
(with motion) 

203-208 

12 1:45 pm 
(20 mins) 

 

Finance and Audit Committee Update 
(T. Bertoia, D. Anderson, Tinkham LLP) 
 
12.1   Audited Financial Statements for the 2022 Year 

 209-210 

12.2   For Approval: Audited Financial Statements for 
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 

Decision 
(with motion) 

211-228 

12.3   For Approval: Appointment of the Auditor for 
2023 fiscal year  

Decision 
(with motion) 

229 

13 2:05 pm 
(30 mins) 

 

Draft Regulations for Consultation: Physician Assistant 
Regulation (T. Terzis) 
• Council is asked to consider approving the draft 

regulation for consultation 

Decision 
(with motion) 

230-241 



Item Time Topic and Objective(s) Purpose Page No. 

14 2:35 pm Motion to move in-camera Decision 242 

15 2:35 pm 
(10 mins) 

 

In-camera items  Materials 
provided 

under 
separate 

cover 
16 2:45 pm 

 
Adjournment Day 1 (R. Gratton) N/A N/A 

 



DRAFT PROCEEDINGS OF THE MEETING OF COUNCIL 
March 2 and 3, 2023 

Location: Council Chamber, 80 College Street, Toronto, Ontario 

March 2, 2023 

Attendees 

Dr. Baraa Achtar 
Dr. Madhu Azad 
Ms. Lucy Becker 
Dr. Marie-Pierre Carpentier 
Mr. Jose Cordeiro 
Ms. Joan Fisk 
Mr. Murthy Ghandikota 
Ms. Julia Goyal 
Dr. Robert Gratton (Chair and President) 
Mr. Shahab Khan 
Dr. Roy Kirkpatrick 
Dr. Camille Lemieux 
Mr. Paul Malette 
Dr. Lionel Marks de Chabris 
Dr. Carys Massarella 
Dr. Lydia Miljan (PhD)  
Dr. Rupa Patel 
Mr. Peter Pielsticker 
Dr. Judith Plante 
Dr. Ian Preyra (Vice Chair and Vice President) 
Dr. Sarah Reid  
Ms. Linda Robbins 
Dr. Deborah Robertson 
Dr. Patrick Safieh 
Mr. Fred Sherman 
Dr. Andrea Steen 
Dr. Janet van Vlymen 
Dr. Anne Walsh 
Ms. Shannon Weber 

Non-Voting Academic Representatives on Council Present: 

Dr. Mary Bell 
Dr. Karen Saperson 
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Regrets: 
 
Dr. Glen Bandiera 
Mr. Shahid Chaudhry 
Dr. P. Andrea Lum 
Mr. Rob Payne 
 

1. Call to Order and Welcoming Remarks  

R. Gratton, President and Chair of Council called the meeting to order at 10:30 am and 
welcomed all Council Members, including new Council Members, B. Achtar, M. Pierre 
Carpentier, C. Massarella and A. Steen.  He also welcomed staff, and members of the public 
tuning in via YouTube.  He reminded the meeting participants of the College’s mission, vision 
and values and noted that R. Kirkpatrick is conflicted from participating and voting on the 
Registration items covered under item 7: Alternative Pathways to Registration and Specialist 
Recognition – Draft policies for circulation; item 8: CFPC Certification without Examination – 
Draft policy for circulation; and item 9: Emergency Class of Registration – Draft regulation for 
consultation.  There were no other conflicts of interest declared. 

F. Sherman delivered the land acknowledgement as a demonstration of recognition and respect 
for Indigenous peoples of Canada. 

R. Gratton conducted a roll call and noted regrets.   

 
2. Consent Agenda 

R. Gratton provided an overview of the items listed on the Consent Agenda for approval noting 
that the order of items on day 2 of Council have shifted.          

01-C-03-2023 

The following motion was moved by D. Robertson, seconded by J. Goyal and carried, that: 
 
The Council approves the items outlined in the consent agenda, which include in their entirety: 
 
- The Council meeting agenda for March 2 & 3, 2023, as amended; and 
- The minutes from the Council meeting held on December 8 & 9, 2022, as distributed. 

 
CARRIED 

3. For Information 

The following items were included in Council’s package for information: 
 

3.1 Executive Committee Report 
3.2 Ontario Physicians and Surgeons Discipline Tribunal Cases 
3.3 Government Relations Report 
3.5 Policy Report 
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3.6 Medical Learners Reports – Ontario Medical Students Association (OMSA) and 
Professional Association of Residents of Ontario (PARO) 
3.7 Update on Council Action Items 
 

4. Chief Executive Officer / Registrar’s Report 

N. Whitmore, Chief Executive Officer and Registrar presented her report to Council.  Targets and 
metrics for the final 2022 key performance indicators were presented. 

The College’s mission, vision, and values were highlighted.        

An overview was provided on the following departments and programs:  

• Registration and Membership Services; 

• Quality Improvement Program / Quality Assessment Program / Quality Improvement 
(QI) Partnership Program; 

• Out of Hospital Premises Inspection Program; 

• Independent Health Facilities;  

• Patient & Public Help Centre; 

• Legal; 

• Ontario Physicians and Surgeons Discipline Tribunal (OPSDT). 

The Annual Renewal Process is set to launch on April 10th and close on June 1st.  An overview 
was provided on new questions added to the annual renewal , including a request to receive a 
hard copy of Dialogue. Membership fees will remain at $1725.  We have the lowest fees of 
physician regulators in the country.  Three Registration policies are coming forward to Council 
to address physician supply and remove barriers. 

Targets and metrics for the 2023 key performance indicators from January to February 15th  
were highlighted.      

An overview of the 2023 QI Enhanced Pilot was provided.  

The following updates were provided on engagement, collaboration, and operations: 

• Government Relations Update 
• Message to the Profession in December about CPSO’s recommendations to government 

on physician supply shortages, 2022 EDI Report and the December issue of eDialogue 
(open rate 71%) 

• Media update 
• Tackling Misinformation 
• CPSO’s In Dialogue podcast episodes released in December through to February 2023 
• Celebrating Black History Month and addressing Anti-Black Racism in Healthcare in 

CPSO EDI Lunch and (Un)Learn with Dr. Sharda and Dr. Johnson 
• Recognizing and celebrating International Women’s Day 2023 
• College Outreach activities 
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• Implementation of a Data Lake  
• Implement Information Modernization initiatives and digitizing paper records 

• Staff Engagement – 

o January Wellness Challenge 

o Annual Cake Auction - Staff raised $3,000 for Seeds of Hope 

o Upcoming International Women’s Day documentary screening 

o Upcoming Oscar contest  

o CPSO Lean Update  

5. President’s Report and Emerging Issues 

R. Gratton, President and Chair presented his report to Council.  He noted that he had the 
opportunity to join the General staff meeting in December and witnessed the high level of staff 
engagement and celebrating Key Performance Indicators.      

Updates on legislation and licensure will be coming forward to Council over the next two days.  
Communications to Council will be occurring in between meetings to highlight key agenda 
items, convey important information to keep Council apprised and foster engagement. 

Highlights regarding recent MPPs meetings were provided along with reflections on a recent 
Roundtable on Medical Professionalism that was undertaken to support the Practice Guide 
review.   

Focus for 2023 will continue on the by-law refresh and governance modernization opportunities.  
Planning for the June Council meeting is underway.  A governance speaker with in-depth 
knowledge in health care regulation will be presenting to Council at the June meeting.   

6. Governance Committee Report 

J. van Vlymen, Chair of Governance Committee provided the Governance Committee Report 
from the January 24, 2023 meeting.  She reported on the recent work of the Committee led by C. 
Allan, Manager of Governance and her team.  The Committee received a detailed overview of 
the 2023 Governance Committee workplan.  The work underway includes Committee 
succession planning and recruitment and Council election reform.  It was noted that 
consideration of Governance modernization initiatives is underway within the College’s 
legislative and regulatory framework.  An update was provided on the 2023 Council District 
Elections in Districts 5 and 10.  There are two positions in District 5 and four positions in District 
10.  A number of candidates have submitted nomination statements in both districts.  The 
Committee will review the nomination statements, and voting will close on April 19th.   

At the upcoming March meeting, the Committee will decide who will be attending this year’s 
Federation of Medical Regulatory Authorities of Canada conference, one physician and one 
public member of Council will be selected to attend.      

Council was asked to consider the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee appointment 
of Dr. Shaul Tarek.    
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02-C-03-2023  

The following motion was moved by J. Fisk, seconded by J. Plante and carried, that:  

The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario appoints Dr. Shaul Tarek to 
the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee, effective immediately, with the term expiring 
at the close of the Annual General Meeting of Council in December 2025.  

CARRIED 

R. Kirkpatrick departed the meeting for items 7, 8 and 9 due to a conflict of interest. 

7. Alternative Pathways to Registration for Physicians Trained in the United States and 
Specialist Recognition Criteria in Ontario – Draft Policies for Circulation 

 
S. Tulipano, Director of Registration and Membership Services, provided an overview of the 
proposed policy amendments to the “Alternative Pathways to Registration for Physicians Trained 
in the United States” and the “Specialist Recognition Criteria in Ontario” policies.  The updated 
policies are being brought forward to Council for approval to circulate for notice in accordance 
with Section 22.21 of the Code.  Following questions and discussion, Council expressed support 
for the updated policies.  To enable the timely implementation of these new routes, the 
Executive Committee will approve the final policies (subject to feedback received) on behalf of 
Council.  

03-C-03-2023  

The following motion was moved by P. Malette, seconded by S. Reid and carried, that:  

The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario engage in the notice and 
consultation process in accordance with Section 22.21 of the Health Professions Procedural 
Code in respect of the draft revised policy, “Alternative Pathways to Registration for Physicians 
Trained in the United States” (a copy of which forms Appendix “A” to the minutes of this 
meeting), and the draft revised policy, “Specialist Recognition Criteria in Ontario” (a copy of which 
forms Appendix “B” to the minutes of this meeting). 

CARRIED 

8. Recognition of Certification without Examination Issued by CFPC – Draft Policy for 
Circulation 

S. Tulipano, Director of Registration and Membership Services, provided an overview of the 
proposed policy amendments to the “Recognition of Certification Without Examination Issued by 
CFPC” policy.  Background was provided on the current policy and an overview was provided on 
the proposed new pathways to registration under the amended policy.  The updated policy is 
being brought forward to Council for approval to circulate for notice in accordance with Section 
22.21 of the Code.  Council raised questions on how the restricted certificate classification 
appears on the public register.  Following questions and discussion, Council expressed support 
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for the updated policy.  To enable timely implementation of these new routes, the Executive 
Committee will approve the final policy (subject to feedback received) on behalf of Council. 

04-C-03-2023 

The following motion was moved by S. Weber, seconded by R. Patel and carried, that: 
 
The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario engage in the notice 
and consultation process in accordance with Section 22.21 of the Health Professions 
Procedural Code in respect of the draft revised policy, “Recognition of Certification 
Without Examination Issued by CFPC” (a copy of which forms Appendix “C” to the 
minutes of this meeting). 

CARRIED 

9. Emergency Class of Registration – Draft Regulation for Consultation 

C. Roxborough, Director, Policy, provided an overview of the draft regulation, “Emergency Class 
of Registration “ for consultation.  Amendments were drafted to Ontario Regulation 865/93 
(Registration) under the Medicine Act, 1991, setting out a new emergency circumstances 
practice class of registration.  Due to government directed timelines, the Executive Committee 
acted on behalf of Council at its February 7, 2023 meeting to approve the release for circulation 
in accordance with Section 22.21 of the Health Professions Procedural Code and an external 
public consultation of 60 days, ending April 10, 2023.  The draft regulation is being brought 
forward to Council for feedback.  It was noted that all health regulatory colleges are required to 
introduce an emergency class of registration pursuant to a bill passed in October.  Following the 
consultation period, the draft regulation will return to the Executive Committee and Council for 
final approval.  To comply with the final submission deadline of May 1, 2023, a virtual Council 
meeting will be held in April to approve the draft regulation. 

Council recognized the work of Policy, Registration and Legal departments on their work to draft 
the regulation in response to the government’s request. 

R. Kirkpatrick re-joined the meeting. 

10. College Performance Measurement Framework 

C. Roxborough, Director, Policy, provided an overview of the 2022 College Performance 
Measurement Framework (CPMF) report, provided for information.  The CPMF sets out 
expectations and reporting requirements for all Ontario health regulatory colleges.  The purpose 
for the CPMF is to strengthen the Ministry’s oversight role of the Colleges.  It was confirmed 
that the College has met the requirements set out in the report.  The final report will be posted 
online and submitted to the Ministry in advance of the March 31, 2023 deadline. 

11. By-law Refresh Update and Proposed Register By-law Amendments 

An overview was provided on the approach for bringing the proposed Register By-law 
Amendments to Council for consideration.  C. Silver, Chief Legal Officer and M. Cooper, Senior 
Corporate Counsel and Privacy Officer, provided a detailed overview of the recommended 
changes to the By-laws relating to register content and information to be provided by members 
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to the College.  The proposed by-law amendments are intended to update and streamline the 
by-laws.  Substantive changes were recommended to register content relating to: (i) Hospital 
Reports, (ii) Charges in other jurisdictions, (iii) Post Graduate Training, (iv) Quality Assurance 
Committee Specified Continuing Education or Remediation Program (SCERPs), and (v) Out-of-
Hospital Premises outcomes.  Council asked questions on the proposed changes and provided 
feedback.  There was discussion regarding former names  and  gender identification on the 
register.  These issues will be taken back and considered further as part of the public register 
changes. 
 
05-C-03-2023 – By-law Amendments regarding Register Content and Member Information 
(Omnibus) 

The following motion was moved by J. Goyal, seconded by D. Robertson and carried, that: 
 
The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario proposes to make By-
law No. 158, as set out in Appendix “D”, after circulation to stakeholders. 
 

CARRIED 

06-C-03-2023 – By-law Amendments regarding Register Content (Hospital Reports) 

The following motion was moved by R. Patel, seconded by R. Kirkpatrick and carried, that: 
 
The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario proposes to make the 
following By-law No. 159 after circulation to stakeholders:   
   

By-law No. 159   
 

Paragraph 11 of subsection 49(1) of the General By-law is revoked and substituted with the 
following: 

Additional Register Content  

 49.  (1) For purposes of paragraph 20 of subsection 23(2) of the Health Professions 
Procedural Code, the register shall contain the following additional information with respect to 
each member:   … 

 

11. All revocations of the member’s hospital privileges at hospitals in Ontario reported to the 
College by hospitals under section 85.5 of the Health Professions Procedural Code or 
section 33 of the Public Hospitals Act.  

 

Explanatory Note: This proposed by-law must be circulated to the profession.  
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CARRIED 

07-C-03-2023 – By-law Amendments regarding Register Content (Charges) 

The following motion was moved by F. Sherman, seconded by J. Fisk and carried, that: 
 
The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario proposes to make the 
following By-law No. 160 after circulation to stakeholders:   
   

By-law No. 160   
 

Paragraph 26 of subsection 49(1) of the General By-law is revoked and substituted with the 
following: 

Additional Register Content  

 49.  (1) For purposes of paragraph 20 of subsection 23(2) of the Health Professions 
Procedural Code, the register shall contain the following additional information with respect to 
each member:   … 

 

26. If a member has been charged with an offence under the Health Insurance Act (Ontario),  
and the charge is outstanding and is known to the College:   

i. the fact and content of the charge; and  

  ii. the date and place of the charge. 

 

 
CARRIED 

08-C-03-2023 – By-law Amendments regarding Register Content (PG Training) 

The following motion was moved by L. Miljan, seconded by J. Plante and carried, that: 
 
The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario proposes to make the 
following By-law No. 161 after circulation to stakeholders:   
   

By-law No. 161   
 

Paragraph 31 of subsection 49(1) of the General By-law is revoked.  

Explanatory Note: This proposed by-law must be circulated to the profession.  
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CARRIED 

09-C-03-2023 – By-law Amendments regarding Register Content (QAC SCERPs) 

The following motion was moved by C. Massarella, seconded by A. Steen and carried, that: 
 
The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario proposes to make the 
following By-law No. 162 after circulation to stakeholders:   
   

By-law No. 162   
 

Paragraphs 32.1, 32.2 and 32.3 of subsection 49(1) of the General By-law are revoked.  

 

 

 
CARRIED 

 
10-C-03-2023 – By-law Amendments regarding Register Content (OHP Outcomes) 

The following motion was moved by P. Safieh, seconded by F. Sherman and carried, that: 
 
The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario proposes to make the 
following By-law No. 163 after circulation to stakeholders:   
   

By-law No. 163 
 

Subsection 49(2) of the General By-law is revoked and substituted with the following: 

 
Additional Register Content  

 49.  … 

Explanatory Note: This proposed by-law must be circulated to the profession.  
 

Explanatory Note: This proposed by-law must be circulated to the profession.  
 

Page 9 of 242



(2) The register shall contain the most current outcome or status of inspections of all 
premises (including conditions and/or reasons for fail results) carried out since April 2010 
under Part XI of Ontario Regulation 114/94, including the relevant date.  

 
 

 
CARRIED 

Item 16 – Blood Borne Viruses – Proposal to Rescind moved up to Day 1 

16. Blood Borne Viruses – Proposal to Rescind 

C. Roxborough, Director of Policy and A. Chopra, Medical Advisor provided an overview of the 
Blood Borne Viruses policy and asked Council for approval to rescind.  Following the overview, 
Council expressed support to rescind the policy. 

11-C-03-2023  

The following motion was moved by C. Lemieux, seconded by R. Patel and carried, that: 

The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario rescinds the College’s Blood 
Borne Viruses policy (a copy of which forms Appendix “E” to the minutes of this meeting).  

CARRIED 

Item 18 – In-Camera Session moved up to Day 1 

18. Motion to Go in Camera 

12-C-03-2023  

The following motion was moved by L. Becker, seconded by J. Plante and carried, that:  

The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario exclude the public from the 
part of the meeting immediately after this motion is passed, under clause 7(2)(b) and (d) of the 
Health Professions Procedural Code (set out below).  

Exclusion of public 

7(2) Despite subsection (1), the Council may exclude the public from any meeting or 
part of a meeting if it is satisfied that, 

(b)  financial or personal or other matters may be disclosed of such a nature that the 
harm created by the disclosure would outweigh the desirability of adhering to the 
principle that meetings be open to the public; and  

Explanatory Note: This proposed by-law must be circulated to the profession.  
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(d)  personnel matters or property acquisitions will be discussed. 
 CARRIED 

19. In-Camera Session 

The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario entered into an in-camera 
session at 4:10 pm and returned to the open session at 4:50 pm.  

12. Adjournment Day 1 

R. Gratton adjourned day 1 of the Council meeting at 4:50 pm.  
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Draft Proceedings of Council – March 3, 2023 

Attendees 

Dr. Baraa Achtar 
Dr. Madhu Azad 
Ms. Lucy Becker 
Dr. Marie-Pierre Carpentier 
Mr. Jose Cordeiro 
Ms. Joan Fisk 
Mr. Murthy Ghandikota 
Ms. Julia Goyal 
Dr. Robert Gratton 
Mr. Shahab Khan 
Dr. Roy Kirkpatrick 
Dr. Camille Lemieux 
Mr. Paul Malette 
Dr. Lionel Marks de Chabris 
Dr. Carys Massarella 
Ms. Lydia Miljan 
Dr. Rupa Patel 
Mr. Peter Pielsticker 
Dr. Judith Plante 
Dr. Ian Preyra 
Dr. Sarah Reid  
Ms. Linda Robbins 
Dr. Deborah Robertson 
Dr. Patrick Safieh 
Mr. Fred Sherman 
Dr. Andrea Steen 
Dr. Janet van Vlymen 
Dr. Anne Walsh 
Ms. Shannon Weber 
 
Non-Voting Academic Representatives on Council Present: 

Dr. Mary Bell 
Dr. Karen Saperson 
 
Regrets: 
 
Dr. Glen Bandiera 
Mr. Shahid Chaudhry 
Dr. P. Andrea Lum 
Mr. Rob Payne 
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13. Call to Order  

R. Gratton, Chair and President, called the meeting to order at 9:00 am and welcomed everyone 
back to the meeting.  A roll call was conducted, and regrets were noted.  B. Achtar and L. Marks 
de Chabris declared conflicts of interest with respect to Item 17 Image Guidance when 
Administering Nerve Blocks for Adult Chronic Pain.  B. Achtar also asked if he is in conflict with 
respect to Item 15 Decision- Making for End-of Life Care, but it was determined that he did not 
have a conflict of interest regarding that agenda item.  No other conflicts of interest were 
declared. 

14. Council Education Presentation – Mr. Imran Ahmed 

R. Gratton introduced Council’s guest speaker, Mr. Imran Ahmed, Chief Executive Officer of the 
Center for Countering Digital Hate.  Mr. Ahmed presented on health disinformation and 
countering digital hate.    

15. Decision Making for End-of-Life Care – Revised Policy for Final Approval 

S. Reid, Council Member and Member of the Policy Working Group presented the revised draft 
Decision-Making for End-of-Life Care policy for final approval.  An overview was provided on the 
provisions of the current policy outlining challenges faced.  A summary was provided on the 
feedback received from the consultation process and the changes made to address feedback.  
Discussion ensued on the revised policy.  L. Kirshin, Senior Policy Analyst, and R. Bernstein, 
Policy Analyst responded to questions raised.  Following questions and discussion, Council 
expressed approval of the revised policy. 

13-C-03-2023 

The following motion was moved by R. Kirkpatrick, seconded by C. Lemieux and carried, that: 
 
The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario approves the revised policy, 
“Decision-Making for End-of-Life Care”, formerly titled “Planning for and Providing Quality End-
of-Life Care”, as a policy of the College (a copy of which forms Appendix “F“ to the minutes of 
this meeting).  

CARRIED 

B. Achtar and L. Marks de Chabris departed the meeting for item 17 – Image Guidance when 
Administering Nerve Blocks for Adult Chronic Pain due to a conflict of interest. 

17. Image Guidance when Administering Nerve Blocks – Revised Standard for Approval 

L. Reid, Director of Investigations and Accreditation and C. Roxborough, Director, Policy 
provided an overview of the revised standard for Image Guidance when Administering Nerve 
Blocks for Adult Chronic Pain.  A summary was provided on the feedback received as part of the 
extensive consultation and engagement process.  In addition to the public consultation, a 
targeted consultation was undertaken with several specialty groups and physicians practising in 
the pain space including the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada and the 
Ontario Medical Association Section on Chronic Pain.  Revised drafts were circulated to the 
Premises Inspection Committee.  Dr. Catherine Smyth, Premises Inspection Committee member 
spoke to why the standard is important from a quality and patient safety perspective. 
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Council weighed in and debated the revised standard.  Implications of not using image guidance 
was shared including an increase in adverse events resulting in patient harm.  Following a 
fulsome discussion and debate, Council expressed its support for the revised standard.  The 
Out-of-Hospital Premises will be given six months to comply with the new standard.   

14-C-03-2023 

The following motion was moved by R. Patel, seconded by P. Pielsticker and carried, that: 

The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario approves the Out-of-Hospital 
Premises Standard “Image Guidance When Administering Nerve Blocks for Adult Chronic Pain” 
(a copy of which forms Appendix “G“ to the minutes of this meeting). 

CARRIED 

B. Achtar and L. Marks de Chabris rejoined the meeting. 

20. Close Meeting - Day 2 

R. Gratton closed the Council Meeting at 1:30 pm on March 3, 2023.  The next Council meeting 
is scheduled on June 8 and 9, 2023.  

 

   
   
Chair  Recording Secretary  
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Appendix A 

ALTERNATIVE PATHWAYS TO 
REGISTRATION FOR PHYSICIANS 

TRAINED IN THE UNITED 
STATES 

CPSO offers three alternative pathways for physicians trained in the United States (US) 
looking to gain licensure in the province of Ontario but who are applying outside of our 
regular registration requirements. 

Pathway A 
This pathway is for physicians who are certified by a US Specialty Board. 

If you gain licensure under this pathway, you will be issued a restricted certificate of 
registration to practice independently limited to your scope of practice.  

We may issue you a certificate if you have: 

• One of the following degrees: 
o an acceptable medical degree as defined in Ontario Regulation 865/93 

under the Medicine Act, 1991; or 
o a “doctor of osteopathy” degree granted by an osteopathic medical school 

in the US that was accredited by the American Osteopathic Association at 
the time it granted you your degree; 

• successfully completed a residency program accredited by the Accreditation 
Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME); 

• been certified by a US Specialty Board; 
• successfully completed the US Medical Licensing Examination or successfully 

completed an acceptable qualifying exam; and 
• an independent or full licence to practise without restrictions in the US or are 

eligible to apply for such a licence. 

Pathway B 
This pathway is for physicians who are missing RCPSC or CFPC certification and do not 
currently hold a certificate in a Canadian jurisdiction while having five or more 
continuous years of practice in Canada or the US. 
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If you gain licensure under this pathway, you will undergo an assessment after 
completing a minimum of one year of supervised practice in Ontario. Upon satisfactory 
completion of the assessment, you will be issued a restricted certificate of registration 
to practice independently limited to your scope of practice.  

Your initial certificate automatically expires 18 months from the date of issuance, but 
the Registration Committee may renew it with or without terms, conditions and 
limitations. 

CPSO may issue you a certificate if you have a medical degree from a medical school in 
Canada accredited by the Council on Accreditation of Canadian Medical Schools, or an 
acceptable international medical degree. To qualify, you must have:  

• successfully completed a Canadian residency program or acceptable pre-1993 
training; 

• successfully completed the Medical Council of Canada Qualifying Examinations 
or an acceptable qualifying exam; and 

• practised for five or more continuous years in Canada or the US while holding an 
independent or full license or certificate of registration without restrictions but do 
not currently hold a certificate in a Canadian jurisdiction. 

Pathway C 
This pathway is for physicians who are missing US Specialty Board certification but are 
eligible to take the board examinations. 

If you gain licensure under this pathway, you will be issued a time-limited, restricted 
certificate of registration to practice under supervision. Your initial certificate 
automatically expires within three years from the date of issuance. 

We may issue you a certificate if you have: 

• One of the following degrees: 
o an acceptable medical degree as defined in Ontario Regulation 865/93 

under the Medicine Act, 1991; or 
o a “doctor of osteopathy” degree granted by an osteopathic medical school 

in the US that was accredited by the American Osteopathic Association at 
the time it granted you your degree; 

• successfully completed a residency program accredited by the ACGME in the last 
five years; 

• been deemed officially eligible to take a US Specialty Board certification 
examination; and 

• successfully completed the US Medical Licensing Examination or successfully 
completed an acceptable qualifying exam. 
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This restricted certificate is subject to the following conditions: 

1. You must practice with a supervisor. 
2. Your restricted certificate will expire the earlier of: 

a. three years from the date it is issued, if you do not successfully complete 
all outstanding examinations of a US Specialty Board;  

b. when you have been certified by a US Specialty Board; or 
c. when you are no longer eligible to write a US Specialty Board certification 

examination. 

Only in exceptional circumstances will we consider candidates for a renewal of their 
restricted certificate of registration after the expiration date. 

Once candidates have been certified by a US Specialty Board, they will be eligible for a 
restricted certificate of registration under Pathway A. 
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Appendix B 

SPECIALIST RECOGNITION 
CRITERIA IN ONTARIO 

Approved by Council: April 2005 
Reviewed and Updated: November 2011, September 2022 
  

Purpose 
In order to practice medicine in Ontario, an individual must hold a valid certificate of 
registration issued by the College. Specialty recognition is distinct from registration. 

The Ontario Regulation 114/94 provides that no member shall use a term, title or 
designation relating to a specialty or subspecialty of the profession in respect of their 
practice of the profession unless the member has been, 

1. certified by the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada (RCPSC) in 
a specialty or subspecialty of the profession to which the term, title or 
designation relates; 

2. certified by the College of Family Physicians of Canada (CFPC) in a specialty or 
subspecialty of the profession to which the term, title or designation relates; or 

3. formally recognized in writing by the College as specialist in the specialty or 
subspecialty of the profession to which the term, title or designation relates. 

This policy sets out the criteria that a physician must meet in order to be recognized as 
a specialist by the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario. 
  

Scope 
This policy applies to individuals who have met the criteria for registration and have 
been issued a certificate of registration to practice medicine in Ontario. 

Under this policy, the College will recognize specialty titles only in areas for which 
specialties and sub-specialties are granted by the RCPSC and the CFPC. 

This policy does not apply to physicians who hold certification by RCPSC or the CFPC 
who are requesting sub-specialist recognition at a time when the sub-specialty 
examination is available. 
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Specialist recognition granted under paragraph 3 above is tied to the physician’s 
practice in Ontario and will automatically expire upon expiry of the physician’s 
certificate of registration. 

The determination as to which specialists should be paid as specialists under the 
Ontario Health Insurance Plan will be made by the Ministry of Health and Long-Term 
Care of Ontario. 
  

Policy 
A physician who meets any of the requirements below will be recognized by the College 
as a specialist: 

1. holds certification by the RCPSC; or 
2. holds certification in family medicine by the CFPC; or 
3. holds specialist certification, obtained by examination, by the Collège des 

médecins du Québec; or 
4. holds certification by a specialty member board of the American Board of 

Medical Specialties (ABMS), and: 
a. ABMS certification was obtained by examination, and 
b. ABMS certification was obtained following successful completion of 

postgraduate specialty training in a program accredited by the 
Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education (ACGME); or  

5. holds a restricted certificate of registration authorizing academic practice in 
Ontario, and: 

a. has successfully completed specialty training and obtained certification 
as a specialist by the certifying body in the country where the individual 
completed their training, by an organization outside of North America that 
recognizes medical specialties, and 

b. the organization which recognized the applicant as a medical specialist 
did so using standards that are substantially similar to the standards of 
the RCPSC or the CFPC, and 

c. holds a full-time academic appointment at a medical school in Ontario at 
the rank of assistant professor, associate professor or full professor; or 

6. has completed a minimum of one year of independent or supervised practice in 
Ontario, and: 

a. has successfully completed specialty training and obtained certification 
as a specialist by the certifying body in the country where the individual 
completed their training by an organization outside of North America that 
recognizes medical specialties, and 

b. the organization which recognized the applicant as a medical specialist 
did so using standards that are substantially similar to the standards of 
the RCPSC or the CFPC, and 
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c. has successfully completed a practice assessment that has been directed 
by the Registration Committee; or 

7. holds a restricted certificate of registration in Ontario that has been issued under 
the College’s Alternative Pathways to Registration for Physicians Trained in the 
United States policy, and: 

a. has received written confirmation from a US Specialty Board of eligibility 
to take the certification examination on the basis of satisfactory 
completion of a residency program accredited by the ACGME within the 
last five years; or 

8. holds a restricted certificate of registration in Ontario that has been issued under 
the College’s Restricted Certificates of Registration for Exam Eligible Candidates 
policy, and: 

a. has received written confirmation from the RCPSC of current eligibility, 
with no pre-conditions, to take the certification examination on the basis 
of satisfactory completion of a RCPSC-accredited residency program in 
Canada or a RCPSC recognized program outside of Canada; or 

9. holds a restricted certificate of registration in Ontario that has been issued under 
the College’s Restricted Certificates of Registration for Exam Eligible Candidates 
policy, and: 

a. has received written confirmation from the CFPC of current eligibility, with 
no pre-conditions, to take the certification on the basis of satisfactory 
completion of a CFPC-accredited residency program in Canada or a CFPC 
recognized program outside of Canada. 

  

Endnotes 
1. The physician shall be solely responsible for payment of all fees, costs, charges, 
expenses, etc. arising from request for specialist recognition. 
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Appendix C 

RECOGNITION OF 
CERTIFICATION WITHOUT 

EXAMINATION ISSUED BY CFPC 
There are two scenarios in which the CPSO will recognize your certification in lieu of a 
CFPC examination and issue you a certificate of registration: 

1. You may be issued a restricted certificate of registration to practice
independently limited to your scope of practice if you have a medical degree
from an acceptable medical school and have:

• Successfully obtained certification without examination by the CFPC.

2. You may be issued an independent practice certificate of registration if you have
a medical degree from an acceptable medical school and have:

• Successfully obtained certification without examination by the CFPC; and
• Successfully completed Part 1 of the Medical Council of Canada

Qualifying Examination or obtained the LMCC.
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Motion Title By-law Amendments re Register Content and Member 
Information (Omnibus) 

Date of Meeting March 2, 2023 

It is moved by____________________, and seconded by_____________________, that: 

The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario proposes to make the 
following By-law No. 158 after circulation to stakeholders:   

By-law No. 158 

Sections 48, 49, 50.1, 50.2, 51 and 51b of the General By-law are revoked and substituted with 
the following: 

Part 4.  Registration Matters 

Member Names and Addresses 

48. (1) A member's name in the register shall be the member's full name and consistent
with the name of the member as it appears on the member’s degree of medicine, as supported 
by documentary evidence satisfactory to the College. 

(2) The registrar may direct that a member's name, other than as provided in subsection
48(1), be entered in the register if the member satisfies the registrar that the member has 
validly changed the member’s name and that the use of the newer name is not for an improper 
purpose. 

(3) The registrar may give a direction under subsection (2) before or after the initial
entry of the member's name in the register. 

(4) A member’s business address in the register shall be the member’s principal place
of practice reported by the member to the College.  

Appendix D
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Additional Register Content  

 49.  (1) For purposes of paragraph 20 of subsection 23(2) of the Health Professions 
Procedural Code, the register shall contain the following additional information with respect to 
each member: 

1. Any changes in the member’s name that have been made in the register  since the 
College first issued a certificate of registration to the member,  the date of such change, 
if known to the College, and each former name of the member that was listed in the 
register as the member’s name. 

2. The member's registration number. 

3. The member’s gender. 

4. The facsimile number or the business e-mail address that the member makes available to 
the public and uses for practice purposes. 

5. In addition to the member’s business address, other locations at which the member 
practises medicine reported by the member to the College.  

6. If a member is no longer practising in Ontario, contact information regarding the transfer 
or provisional custody of medical records, if applicable and if that information has been 
provided to the College. 

7. The language(s) in which the member is competent to conduct practice, as reported by 
the member to the College. 

8. The name of the medical school from which the member received the member’s degree 
in medicine and the year in which the member obtained the degree. 

9. The date the member received specialty certification or recognition (if any). 

10. The name of each hospital in Ontario where the member holds privileges and 
appointment to the professional staff of the hospital.  

11. All revocations, suspensions, restrictions, resignations and  relinquishments  of the 
member’s privileges or practice, and rejections of appointment or reappointment 
applications, reported to the College by hospitals under section 85.5 of the Health 
Professions Procedural Code or section 33 of the Public Hospitals Act, but excluding 
voluntary leaves of absence by members, in each case commencing from the date the 
relevant portion of this by-law goes into effect.  

12. The classes of certificate of registration held by the member and the date on which each 
certificate was issued. 

13. If a member’s certificate of registration is revoked or suspended:  
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i. the effective date of the suspension or revocation of the member’s certificate of 
registration:   

ii. the committee that ordered the suspension or revocation of the member’s 
certificate of registration, if applicable; and  

iii. the date of removal of a suspension, if applicable. 

14.  If a member’s certificate of registration is expired, the expiration date and the reason for 
the expiry. 

15. In respect of a decision of the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee that includes 
a disposition of a caution, if the complaint that led to the decision, or, in a case where 
there is no complaint, the first appointment of investigators in the file, is dated on or after 
January 1, 2015, a summary of that decision and, if applicable, a notation that the 
decision has been appealed or reviewed.  If that  decision is overturned on appeal or 
review, the summary of that decision shall be removed from the register. 

16. In respect of a decision of the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee that includes 
a disposition of a Specified Continuing Education or Remediation Program (“SCERP”), if 
the complaint that led to the decision, or, in a case where there is no complaint, the first 
appointment of investigators in the file is dated on or after January 1, 2015:  

i. a summary of that decision, including the elements of the SCERP; 

ii. if applicable, a notation that the decision has been appealed or reviewed; and 

iii. a notation that all of the elements of the SCERP have been completed, when so 
done.  

 If that decision is overturned on appeal or review, the summary of that decision shall be 
removed from the register. 

17. If terms, conditions and limitations (other than those required by regulation) are imposed 
on a member’s certificate of registration or if terms, conditions and limitations in effect 
on a member’s certificate of registration are amended: 

i. the effective date of the terms, conditions and limitations imposed or of the 
amendments; and 

ii. a notation as to whether the member or a committee imposed or amended the 
terms, conditions and limitations on the member’s certificate of registration, and if 
a committee, the name of the committee. 

18.  If a member’s certificate of registration is subject to an interim order of the Inquiries, 
Complaints and Reports Committee made on or after [DATE BY-LAW COMES INTO 
EFFECT], a notation of that fact, the nature of that order and the effective date of that 
order, until such interim order is no longer in effect. 
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19.    If an allegation of professional misconduct or incompetence against the member has 
been referred to the Ontario Physicians and Surgeons Discipline Tribunal and not yet 
decided: 

i. a summary of the allegation and/or notice of hearing if it was referred to the 
Ontario Physicians and Surgeons Discipline Tribunal prior to [DATE BY-LAW 
COMES INTO EFFECT];  

ii. the notice of hearing if it was referred to the Ontario Physicians and Surgeons 
Discipline Tribunal on or after [DATE BY-LAW COMES INTO EFFECT]; 

  iii. the anticipated date of the hearing, if the date has been set; 

iv. if the hearing has been adjourned and no future date has been set, the fact of the 
adjournment; and 

 if the decision is under reserve, that fact. 

20. If the result of a disciplinary proceeding in which a finding was made by the Ontario 
Physicians and Surgeons Discipline Tribunal in respect of the member is in the register: 

i.       the date on which the Ontario Physicians and Surgeons Discipline Tribunal made 
the finding;  

ii. the date on which the Ontario Physicians and Surgeons Discipline Tribunal ordered 
any penalty; and 

iii. if the finding is appealed, the status of the appeal and the disposition of the 
appeal. 

21. If an allegation of the member's incapacity has been referred to the fitness to practise 
committee and not yet decided, a notation of that fact and the date of the referral. 

22. If the result of an incapacity proceeding in which a finding was made by the fitness to 
practise committee in respect of the member is in the register: 

i.      the date on which the fitness to practise committee made the finding; 

ii. the effective date of any order of the fitness to practise committee;  

iii. if the finding is under appeal, a notation to that effect; and 

iv. when an appeal of a finding of incapacity is finally disposed of, the notation added 
under subparagraph iii of this paragraph shall be removed. 

23. If an application for reinstatement has been referred to the Ontario Physicians and 
Surgeons Discipline Tribunal, that fact and if the application has been decided, the 
decision of the Ontario Physicians and Surgeons Discipline Tribunal.  
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24.   If an application for reinstatement has been made to the Council or the Executive 
Committee under s.74 of the Health Professions Procedural Code:  

i. that fact; 

ii. the date on which the Council or the Executive Committee will consider the 
application;  

iii. in the case of an application with respect to a person whose certificate of 
registration has been revoked or suspended as a result of disciplinary proceedings,  
if the application has been decided, the decision of the Council or Executive 
Committee; and 

iv. in the case of an application with respect to a person whose certificate of 
registration has been revoked or suspended as a result of incapacity proceedings, 
if the application has been decided, a summary of the decision of the Council or 
Executive Committee or if the registrar determines that it is in the public interest 
that the decision be disclosed, the decision of the Council or Executive Committee. 

25. If an application to vary, suspend or cancel an order of the Ontario Physicians and 
Surgeons Discipline Tribunal has been filed on or after June 16, 2022, that fact and if the 
application has been decided, the decision of the Ontario Physicians and Surgeons 
Discipline Tribunal. 

26. Where a member has been charged with an offence under the Health Insurance Act 
(Ontario), under any criminal laws of another jurisdiction or under laws of another 
jurisdiction comparable to the Health Insurance Act (Ontario) or the Controlled Drugs and 
Substances Act (Canada), and the charge is outstanding and is known to the College, the 
fact and content of the charge and, if known to the College, the date and place of the 
charge. 

27. Any currently existing conditions of release following a charge against a member for a 
Health Insurance Act (Ontario) offence, or subsequent to a finding of guilt under the 
Health Insurance Act (Ontario) and pending appeal, or any variations to those conditions, 
in each case if known to the College. 

28. If there has been a finding of guilt made against a member (a) under the Health Insurance 
Act (Ontario), on or after June 1, 2015, (b) under any criminal laws of another jurisdiction, 
on or after September 20, 2019, or (c) under laws of another jurisdiction comparable to 
the Health Insurance Act (Ontario) or the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act (Canada), 
on or after September 20, 2019,  in each case if known to the College: 

i. a brief summary of the finding; 

ii. a brief summary of the sentence; 

Page 26 of 242



iii. if the finding is under appeal, a notation that it is under appeal, until the appeal is 
finally disposed of; and 

iv. the dates of the information under subparagraphs i-iii of this paragraph. 

 29. If a notation of a finding of professional negligence or malpractice in respect of the 
member is in the register: 

i. the date of the finding; and 

ii. the name and location of the court that made the finding against the member, if 
known to the College. 

30.   The date on which the College issued a certificate of authorization in respect of the 
member, and the effective date of any revocation or suspension of the member’s 
certificate of authorization. 

31.   A description of the member's postgraduate training in Ontario. 

32.1 In respect of a decision of the QAC that includes a disposition of a SCERP, if the decision 
is made on or after June 1, 2016, the elements of the SCERP.  

32.2 In respect of the elements of a SCERP, referred to in paragraph 32.1 above, a notation 
that all of the elements have been completed, when so done. 

32.3 Where a decision referred to in paragraph 32.1 above is overturned on review, the 
summary shall be removed from the Register. 

(2) The register shall also contain the outcome and/or status of inspections of all premises 
(including conditions and/or reasons for fail results) carried out since April 2010 under Part XI 
of Ontario Regulation 114/94, including the relevant date. This paragraph applies to the most 
current outcome and/or status as of January 31, 2013, and every outcome and/or status 
thereafter.  

Public Information  

   50.1 (1) All information required by the by-laws to be contained in the register is designated 
as public, other than: 

i. any information that, if made public, would violate a publication ban if known to the 
College; and 

ii. information that the registrar refuses or has refused to post on the College’s website 
pursuant to subsection 23(6), (7), (8), (9) or (11) of the Health Professions Procedural 
Code. 
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 (2)   Notwithstanding subsection 50.1(1), the content of terms, conditions or limitations are no 
longer public information if: 

i. the terms, conditions or limitations were directed to be imposed upon a member’s 
certificate of registration by a committee other than the Ontario Physicians and 
Surgeons Discipline Tribunal; and 

ii. the terms, conditions or limitations have been removed from the register.  
 
 

(3)  The registrar may give any information contained in the register which is designated as 
public to any person in printed, electronic or oral form. 

 Liability Protection 

  50.2 Each member shall obtain and maintain professional liability protection that extends to 
all areas of the member’s practice, through one or more of: 

(a) membership in the Canadian Medical Protective Association; 

(b) a policy of professional liability insurance issued by a company licensed to carry on 
business in the province, that provides coverage of at least $10,000,000; 

(c) coverage under the Treasury Board Policy on Legal Assistance and Indemnification. 

Notification Required by Members 

  51. (1) A member shall notify the College in writing or electronically as specified by the 
College of: 

(a) the member’s preferred mailing address and e-mail address for communications from 
the College;   

(b) the address and telephone number of the member’s business address that is the 
member’s principal place of practice;  

(c) the identity of each hospital and health facility in Ontario where the member holds 
privileges and appointment to the professional staff; and 

(d)  any changes in the member’s name that have been made in the register since the 
College first issued a certificate of registration to the member.  

  (2)  If there is a change in the information provided under subsection (1), the member 
shall notify the College in writing or electronically, as specified by the College, of the change 
within thirty days of the effective date of the change. 

 
  (3) The College may at any time and from time to time request information from its 
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12-Week Clinical Field Assessment

⇢During the CFA candidates are not the Most Responsible Physician 

(MRP) – It is a supervised practice setting (ongoing & closely 

supervised with sufficient time and structure)

⇢PRA model includes multiple independent observations made 

across multiple situations by multiple observers

⇢Following recommendations for assessment documentation as per 

National PRA Standards
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Clinical Field Assessment Evaluation

Comprised of various formats of assessment;

⇢ Multi-source Feedback Questionnaires

⇢ MD Colleague

⇢ Co-Worker (such as nurses, pharmacists, psychologists, social workers, etc.)

⇢ Patient

⇢ Mini-Clinical Evaluation Exercises

⇢ Field Notes

⇢ Chart Simulation Recalls 

⇢ Chart Review Reports
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Clinical Field Assessment Sites

⇢Candidates will be paired with Clinical Field Assessment sites around the 

province, in like areas to Return of Service locations

⇢ A candidate’s Clinical Field Assessment and Return of Service will not be in the 

same location due to potential conflict of interest

⇢Each site is required to have physician assessors who are committed to 

the candidate’s competency evaluation

⇢A physician assessor will be designated as a lead for a predetermined 

period throughout the 12-week assessment
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Clinical Field Assessor Selection

⇢ Recruitment of assessors and appropriate assessment sites led by Touchstone Institute 

with support from Ontario Health

⇢ Proposed Assessors criteria:

⇢ CPSO Certificate of Professional Conduct to ensure Good Standing status with the College

⇢ Have 3 years in practice with a similar scope of practice to the proposed PRO placement

⇢ CFPC certification preferred but not mandatory

⇢ Comprehensive assessor training provided and support throughout assessment period

⇢ Compensation provided for the 12-week period 
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Clinical Field Assessor Role

⇢Assess the candidate's fitness for independent practice in family 

medicine through various observations and recording of assessments

⇢Ensures patients are informed that the candidate is part of a practice 

ready assessment allowing patients the options to decline to be seen by 

the candidate without any penalty

⇢Coordinates the distribution and collection of multi-source feedback from 

patients, colleagues and other allied professionals (through standardized 

forms)

⇢ Identifies any concerns regarding the candidate to the PRO Administrator in 

a timely manner

*Roles & Responsibilities currently being finalized
*Based on the MCC NAC-PRA Standards and GuidelinesPage 188 of 242



Clinical Field Assessor Supports

⇢Fully supported by the Touchstone Institute team throughout 

the 12-week period

⇢Submits Interim and Final Clinical Field Assessment Report 

(CFARs) to Touchstone Institute in a timely fashion

⇢Submits a recommendation for a practice-ready decision to 

Touchstone Institute (via Final CFAR)

⇢Final decisions made by a sub-committee
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Return of Service &
Beyond

⇢Three-year Return of Service agreement with the 

Ministry of Health

⇢Certification Examination in Family Medicine 

through CFPC

⇢Independent Licensure with CPSO
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Return of Service

⇢Candidates who successfully complete PRO will be required to fulfill a three-

year return of service in a specified eligible community established by the 

Ministry of Health

⇢Practice locations in communities with a Rurality Index of Ontario (RIO) score 

of 40 and above and in Northern Urban Referral Centres (i.e., Timmins, North 

Bay, Sudbury, Sault Ste. Marie, and Thunder Bay) are eligible. RIO is a measure 

of rurality that is derived from three factors: population (count and density), 

travel time to a basic referral centre, and travel time to an advanced referral 

centre. RIO scores are assigned to Statistics Canada census subdivisions.  

Community RIO scores are available here: https://apps.oma.org/RIO/index
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CFPC Examination & Independent Practice

⇢ Sitting the Certification Examination in Family 

Medicine with the College of Family Physicians of 

Canada and subsequently applying for independent 

licensure with CPSO are the sole responsibility of the 

candidate and not part of the Practice Ready Ontario 

program.
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Our Vision

Public 
confidence in 
professional 
competence.

Our Mission

To excel in providing competency 
assessment and education 
services that meet professional 
and societal needs.

Thank You
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Motion Title Draft Policy for Consultation - Practice Ready Assessment 
Program  

Date of Meeting June 8, 2023 

It is moved by____________________, and seconded by_____________________, that: 

The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario engage in the notice and 
consultation process in accordance with Section 22.21 of the Health Professions Procedural 
Code in respect of the draft policy, “Practice Ready Assessment Program” (a copy of which 
forms Appendix “ ” to the minutes of this meeting). 
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June 2023 

Topic: Draft Policies for Consultation – Recognition of RCPSC Subspecialist 
Affiliate Status and Specialist Recognition Criteria in Ontario 

Purpose: For Decision 
Relevance to 
Strategic Plan: 

Right-Touch Regulation 
System Collaboration 

Public Interest 
Rationale: 

Accessibility: facilitating the registration of internationally educated 
physicians to support increased access to health care services in Ontario 

Main Contact(s): Samantha Tulipano, Director, Registration & Membership Services 
Tanya Terzis, Interim Manager, Policy 
Alex Wong, Policy Analyst 
Mike Fontaine, Policy Analyst  

Attachment(s): Appendix A: Draft Recognition of RCPSC Subspecialist Affiliate Status 
Policy  
Appendix B: Draft Specialist Recognition Criteria in Ontario Policy  

Issue 

• Council is provided with an overview of the new draft Recognition of RCPSC Subspecialist
Affiliate Status policy and draft Specialist Recognition Criteria in Ontario policy and is asked
to consider whether these draft policies can be approved for consultation.

Background 

• Since the Ontario Minister of Health’s 2022 direction to “make every effort to register out of
province and internationally educated physicians [IEPs] to the College as expeditiously as
possible,” CPSO has been actively re-evaluating whether barriers to licensure can be
removed and whether new pathways to registration can be explored through policy.

Current Status and Analysis 

Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada (RCPSC) Subspecialist Affiliate Status 

• The RCPSC offers assessment programs in the form of the Subspecialty Examination
Affiliate Program (SEAP) and Practice Eligibility Route for the Subspecialty Examination
Affiliate Program (PER-SEAP) for internationally trained subspecialists who are not certified
by the RCPSC in a primary specialty.
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o As part of this process, RCPSC determines whether an applicant is eligible to take 
the subspeciality exam based on a review of their postgraduate residency training, 
their practice experience, and a multi-source feedback survey.  
 

o Physicians who have successfully challenged the RCPSC subspeciality exam have 
demonstrated the requisite knowledge, skill, and judgment to practise within their 
subspeciality.   
 

o Upon successful completion of the RCPSC’s subspecialty exam, physicians are 
invited to become Subspecialist Affiliates and are recognized by the RCPSC in their 
subspecialty only.   

 
• Subspecialist Affiliate attestation enables physicians to maintain engagement with the 

RCPSC, but it does not confer certification with the RCPSC. Subspecialist Affiliates are 
required to participate in the Royal College Maintenance of Certification (MOC) Program.  

 
Recognition of RCPSC Subspecialist Affiliate Status Draft Policy  
 
• A new Recognition of RCPSC Subspecialist Affiliate Status draft policy (Appendix A) has 

been developed which creates a new pathway to licensure for internationally trained 
subspecialists who are not otherwise eligible to practise in Ontario.  

 
• The draft policy enables CPSO to issue restricted certificates of registration to physicians 

who lack RCPSC certification in a primary specialty but have Subspecialist Affiliate status. 
This certificate will allow physicians to practise independently in the subspecialty in which 
they were trained and received their Subspecialist Affiliate attestation.   

 
• Physicians not certified by the RCPSC are not able to use the specialist title unless CPSO 

grants them the ability to do so. To allow Subspecialist Affiliates registered under this draft 
policy to use the specialist designation in relation to their subspecialty, draft amendments 
have been proposed for the Specialist Recognition Criteria in Ontario policy (Appendix B).  

 
Considerations   
 
• There is currently no pathway for Subspecialist Affiliates to be licensed in Ontario. The 

draft policy creates a new route for IEPs to practise in Ontario.  
 

o Generally, Subspecialist Affiliate candidates are training and registered as clinical 
fellows in RCPSC-accredited subspecialty training programs, but do not have 
prerequisite RCPSC certification in a primary specialty for RCSPC Fellowship, based 
on the jurisdiction of their primary specialty training. Accordingly, they do not have a 
route to licensure outside the postgraduate class. This pathway provides a route for 
these physicians who have successfully challenged the RCPSC subspecialty exam 
to practice independently in their scope.  
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• The qualifications and requirements set out in the draft Recognition of RCPSC Subspecialist
Affiliate Status policy are aligned with those of other provinces which already offer licences
recognizing RCSPC Subspecialist Affiliate status.

o In Nova Scotia, Subspecialist Affiliates are granted a full license to practise in their
subspecialty.

o In Saskatchewan, Subspecialist Affiliates may be granted provisional licenses but
must practise under supervision and for one year and complete an assessment
before they can practise independently.

Next Steps 

• Should Council approve the proposed draft policies, they will be circulated in accordance
with Section 22.21 of the Health Professions Procedural Code (the Code).

• Additionally, pending Council’s direction, in order to support the timely implementation of
these new routes we will seek the Executive Committee’s approval of the final policies
(subject to feedback received) pursuant to its authority under s. 12 of the Code and s. 30 of
the General By-Law.

Question for Council 

1. Does Council recommend that the draft policies be approved for consultation?
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Appendix A 

RECOGNITION OF RCPSC 
SUBSPECIALIST AFFILIATE 

STATUS
The Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada (RCPSC) can grant 
Subspecialist Affiliate status to internationally trained subspecialists who are not 
certified in their primary specialty. 

CPSO may issue you a restricted certificate of registration to practise independently in 
your subspecialty if you have: 

• A medical degree from an acceptable medical school;
• Successfully completed postgraduate training in the subspecialty in which your

Subspecialist Affiliate attestation was granted;
• Obtained the LMCC or completed an acceptable qualifying examination; and
• Obtained Subspecialty Affiliate status from RCPSC.

In addition to the eligibility requirements above, you must satisfy the non-exemptible 
requirements set out in Section 2(1) of Ontario Regulation 865/93 to be issued a 
certificate of registration. 
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June 2023 

 
 
Topic: Approval Item: Waiver of Certain Fees Under the Residents Working 

Additional Hours for Pay (“Moonlighting”) Policy 
Purpose: For Decision 
Relevance to 
Strategic Plan: 

Right-Touch Regulation 

Public Interest 
Rationale: 

Accessibility: Ensuring individuals have access to services provided by 
the health profession of their choice and individuals have access to the 
regulatory system as a whole 

Main Contact: Samantha Tulipano, Director, Registration & Membership Services 

Attachment: Appendix A: Residents Working Additional Hours for Pay Policy 

 
Issue 
 
• To consider waiving the application fees for residents applying under the Residents Working 

Additional Hours for Pay (“Moonlighting”) Policy. 
 
Background 
 
• In November 2004 Council approved a policy to allow residents, in limited circumstances, 

to work outside of their training program for pay. This policy, Residents Working Additional 
Hours for Pay, is often referred to as the “Moonlighting” policy. The policy permits residents 
on a postgraduate education certificate to apply for a Restricted certificate, provided they 
satisfy specific criteria (see Appendix A). 

 
Current Status and Analysis 

Existing Application Process 
 
• After obtaining an offer of employment and confirming a Supervising Physician at a 

healthcare facility, the resident submits an academic application package to the Restricted 
Registration Program (RRP) Office for approval. Once approved, the academic application 
package is forwarded to CPSO and the resident must apply for a Restricted certificate. 
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• The CPSO application fee for this activity is presently $1,035. This is in addition to the $345 
annual membership fee. 

 
• Additionally, the RRP Office requires the resident to submit a separate academic 

application package for every proposed healthcare facility. Accordingly, the resident must 
also apply to the CPSO each time they would like to add a new site to their Restricted 
certificate, which carries an amendment fee of $431.25. 

 
Ongoing Health Human Resources (HHR) Crisis 
 
• Throughout the pandemic residents played a vital role in alleviating pressures caused by 

the on-going HHR crisis. 
 
• In April 2021 the Ontario Government launched the Medical Resident Redeployment (MRR) 

Program to further support hospital staffing and capacity pressures caused by the third 
wave of the COVID-19 pandemic. The program allowed residents to provide additional 
services at hospitals across Ontario for pay, without requiring an independent practice 
license, a Restricted Registration certificate, or Program Director approval. The program 
was extended to March 31, 2023. 

 
• As the MRR Program ends and the acute COVID-19 pandemic emergency eases 

(transitioning to an endemic situation), the strain on the Ontario healthcare system and 
health human resources remains at a critical level. 

 
• The Residents Working Additional Hours for Pay policy continues to play a vital role in 

helping hospitals meet clinical demands and staffing needs, and the CPSO is committed to 
facilitating flexible, expeditious processing for all stakeholders involved. 
 

• Waiving the fees for Moonlighting recognizes the ongoing efforts made by Ontario’s 
residents to provide system coverage, and alleviates some of the gaps the cessation of the 
MRR program has left. 
  

• As the application fees may be a barrier to registration for this activity, waiving the fees 
may also result in an increased number of individuals applying to undertake this activity, 
and further support HHR. 
 

Analysis 
 

• For the 2022/2023 academic year (July 2022-June 2023) we had 218 individuals holding a 
license under the Moonlighting policy. 
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o Based on this data, the estimated annual revenue loss would be 218 * 1,035 for a 
total of $225,630. 

 
• We are seeking Council’s approval to waive the Moonlighting-related fees for the 2023-

2024 academic year in an effort to alleviate some of the strain on the health care system 
and will revisit this decision next year. 

 
Question for Council 
 
1. Does Council support waiving the Moonlighting fees for the 2023-2024 academic year? 
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Appendix A 
 

RESIDENTS WORKING ADDITIONAL 
HOURS FOR PAY 

 
Approved by Council: December 2010 
To be Reviewed by: December 2016 

The College’s registration regulation sets out the requirements which must be met in order for 
an applicant to be issued a certificate of registration. 

If an applicant does not meet the requirements set out in the regulation it may still be possible 
for an applicant to qualify pursuant to one of the exemption policies. 

Please note if you currently hold a certificate of registration in any Canadian jurisdiction you 
may be eligible for registration in Ontario under new provisions of the Health Professions 
Procedural Code (the “Code”). Please refer to sections 22.15 to 22.23 of the Code. Please see 
Legislation and By-Laws for more details. 

All applicants must be able to demonstrate that their past and present conduct indicates that 
they are mentally competent to practise medicine; will practise with decency, integrity and 
honesty and in accordance with the law; have sufficient knowledge, skill and judgment to 
engage in the kind of practice authorized by the certificate and can communicate effectively; 
and will display an appropriately professional attitude. 

In addition to the registration regulation and policies, all applicants will also be subject to other 
CPSO policies and regulations which apply to current registrants. In particular, the Changing 
Scope of Practice and Re-entering Practice policies, and the regulation pertaining to the use of 
specialist titles may have relevance for new applicants. All applicants will also be subject to 
the College’s expectations with respect to continuing professional development. 

All applicants may choose to proceed through any other applicable registration policy. In such 
instances, the provisions in this policy will not apply. 

This policy allows residents, in limited circumstances, to work for additional hours for pay 
outside of their training requirements. 
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Principles 
• The College affirms that neither patient safety nor the well-being of residents be 

compromised for the purpose of meeting the administrative/staffing needs of hospitals 
or the personal financial concerns of residents. 

• The College recognizes that Ontario residents are a valuable human resource for 
providing health care, whose full potential has not yet been realized. 

• As residents progress through their education and training, the College accepts that 
they are able to practice medicine, within their area of training, in an increasingly 
independent manner. 

Policy 
A resident holding a postgraduate education certificate of registration may apply for a 
restricted certificate of registration under certain prescribed conditions. 

To apply for a restricted certificate of registration to practice medicine outside of their training 
program, medical residents are required to: 

• complete a minimum of one year of residency training; 
• receive approval from the Dean of his/her medical school or his/her designate; 
• arrange additional work only in existing rotations already successfully completed as a 

trainee; 
• be in the same supervisory relationship with the Most Responsible Physician taking 

responsibility for the care of the patient; and 
• ensure that the work for pay does not interfere with the work requirements of the 

residency program and that any additional hours worked not be done in a fashion which 
would contravene the collective agreement. 
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Motion Title Waiver of  Certain  Fees Under the Residents Working 

Additional Hours for Pay (“Moonlighting") Policy 
Date of Meeting June 8, 2023 

 
 
It is moved by____________________, and seconded by_____________________, that: 
 
The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario approves waiving the 
application fees for residents holding a postgraduate education certificate of registration who 
apply for a restricted certificate of registration under the Residents Working Additional Hours 
for Pay (“Moonlighting”) Policy for the July 2023 to June 2024 academic year.  
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June 2023 
 
Topic: Audited Financial Statements for the 2022 Year 

Purpose: For Decision 

Main Contact(s): Dr. Thomas Bertoia, Chair, Finance and Audit Committee 
Ms. Nathalie Novak, Chief Operating Officer 
Mr. Douglas Anderson, Corporate Services Officer 
Ms. Leslee Frampton, Manager, Finance  

Attachment(s): Appendix A: Draft Audited Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
December 31, 2022 

 
Issue 

 
• Audited Financial Statements – Year ended December 31, 2022 
• Appointment of the Auditor for the 2023 fiscal year 
 
Background 

 
• Mr. Paul Brocklesby, of Tinkham LLP Chartered Professional Accountants, reviewed the 

audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 for the Finance and 
Audit Committee. 
 

• Mr. Brocklesby reported that the financial statements are represented fairly and in 
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.  The 
reports states: 

 
“In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the College as at December 31, 2022, and the results 
of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.”   
 

• The auditor also stated that the College has excellent internal controls and they did not 
have any recommendations to improve internal controls or accounting procedures as a 
result of the application of their audit procedures. 
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• The Finance and Audit Committee is pleased to inform Council that for the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2022, the College is reporting a surplus of $4.1M (5%) which can 
be attributed to the following: 
 

o Membership Revenue is higher by $1.9M or 3% as compared to a 1% increase in 
the prior year. 

o Application Fee Revenue is higher by $.2M or 2% due to an increase in PGE 
applications in the latter part of the year. 

o Interest Income is up by 1.3 million due to higher interest rates in our current 
account negotiated with the College’s bank. 

o Staffing costs only increased by 1% ($.7M) despite a Cola increase of 2.5%. 
o Software costs are higher by 1.0M related to licensing costs for the new systems 

(F&O, Solis, and Vault). 
o Savings in Per Diem costs of $1.1M due to more virtual sessions. 
o Savings in Consulting Fees of $.5M. 
o The surplus was distributed to the Restricted Funds as per below: 

 

 
 

• The Finance and Audit Committee made the following motions: 
 

The Finance and Audit Committee recommends to Council that the audited Financial 
Statements for the year ended December 31, 2022, be accepted as presented by 
Tinkham LLP Chartered Professional Accountants. 
 
The Finance and Audit Committee recommends to Council that $6,824,197.18 of the 
unrestricted net assets as of December 31, 2022 be transferred to the Intangible Asset 
Fund. 
 
The Finance and Audit Committee recommends to Council that the firm of Tinkham LLP 
Chartered Professional Accountants be appointed as the College’s auditors for the 
fiscal year 2023. 

 
Questions for Council   
 

1. Does Council approve the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 
2022 as presented? 

2. Does Council approve the recommendation that the firm of Tinkham LLP Chartered 
Professional Accountants be reappointed as the College’s auditors for the year 2023? 

 

lnvested in Capital Assets (2022 Net) 2,185,041.04    
Transfer to Intangible Asset Fund (6,824,197.18)  
Pension Adjustment 559,148.00        
Total Surplus (4,080,008.14)  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of the
College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario
("College"), which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022 and the statements of
operations and changes in unrestricted net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the College as at December 31, 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the College in accordance with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the College's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the College or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the College’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

2
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As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,

forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the College’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates

and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions

that may cast doubt on the College’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are

based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the College to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

TORONTO, Ontario
June 8, 2023 Licensed Public Accountants       

3
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COLLEGE OF PHYSICIANS AND SURGEONS OF ONTARIO
Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31 2022 2021

Assets

Current
Cash $ 62,375,231 $ 58,578,305
Accounts receivable 972,073 1,903,588
Prepaid expenses 3,097,552 1,573,129

66,444,856 62,055,022
Investments (note 3) 50,694,192 50,331,712
Capital assets (note 4) 14,613,491 16,828,346

$131,752,539 $129,215,080

Liabilities

Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 8,101,808 $ 9,208,460
Current portion of obligations under capital leases (note 7) 500,341 689,167

8,602,149 9,897,627
Deferred revenue (note 5) 32,989,051 33,240,949

41,591,200 43,138,576

Accrued pension cost (note 6) 4,542,816 5,256,150
Obligations under capital leases (note 7) 475,105 316,093

46,609,121 48,710,819

Net assets 

Internally restricted (note 8)
Invested in capital assets 13,638,045 15,823,086
Building Fund 60,700,276 60,700,276
Intangible Asset Fund 10,805,097 3,980,899
Pension remeasurements (725,130) (1,284,280)

Unrestricted 725,130 1,284,280

85,143,418 80,504,261

$131,752,539 $129,215,080

Commitments and contingencies (notes 9 and 10, respectively)

Approved on behalf of the Council

______________________________

______________________________

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 4
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COLLEGE OF PHYSICIANS AND SURGEONS OF ONTARIO
Statement of Operations and Changes in Unrestricted Net Assets

Year ended December 31 2022 2021

Revenue
Membership fees

General and educational (note 5) $ 68,881,162 $ 67,443,326
Penalty fee 991,749 563,126

69,872,911 68,006,452
Application fees 9,038,049 8,837,479
OHPIP annual and assessment fees (note 5) 1,339,476 1,440,239
IHF annual and assessment fees (note 5) 2,269,119 1,431,792
OHPIP, IHF application fees and penalties 102,099 62,525
Cost recoveries and other income 1,779,428 2,290,504
Interest income 1,835,684 553,628

86,236,766 82,622,619

Expenses
Staffing costs (schedule I) 52,360,938 51,707,598
Per diems (schedule II) 9,002,543 7,869,158
Other costs (schedule III) 9,825,788 7,805,729
Professional fees (schedule IV) 4,353,531 4,886,444
Amortization of capital assets 4,541,294 3,503,959
Occupancy (schedule V) 2,435,145 2,629,811

82,519,239 78,402,699

Excess of revenue over expenses before undernoted items 3,717,527 4,219,920

Investment income 362,480 342,192

Excess of revenue over expenses for the year 4,080,007 4,562,112

Unrestricted net assets, beginning of year 1,284,280 1,173,107
Less: Invested in capital assets (net) 2,185,041 (2,470,040)
Less: Transfer to Intangible Asset Fund (6,824,198) (1,980,899)

Unrestricted net assets, end of year $ 725,130 $ 1,284,280

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 5
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COLLEGE OF PHYSICIANS AND SURGEONS OF ONTARIO
Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31 2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities:
Excess of revenue over expenses for the year $ 4,080,007 $ 4,562,112
Amortization of capital assets 4,541,294 3,503,959

8,621,301 8,066,071

Net change in non-cash working capital items:
Accounts receivable 931,515 (277,581)
Prepaid expenses (1,524,423) (429,216)
Accrued interest receivable (362,480) (331,712)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (1,106,652) (14,338)
Deferred revenue (251,898) (9,491)
Pension cost (154,184) (174,821)

Cash provided by operating activities 6,153,179 6,828,912

Cash flows used by investing activities:
Purchase of capital assets (1,563,448) (5,137,442)

Cash flows used by financing activities:
Payment of capital lease obligations (792,805) (836,557)

Net increase in cash 3,796,926 854,913

Cash, beginning of year 58,578,305 57,723,392

Cash, end of year $ 62,375,231 $ 58,578,305

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 6
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COLLEGE OF PHYSICIANS AND SURGEONS OF ONTARIO
Notes to the Financial Statements
December 31, 2022

1 Organization

College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario ("College") was incorporated without share capital as a not-for-
profit organization under the laws of Ontario for the purpose of regulating the practice of medicine to protect and
serve the public interest. Its authority under provincial law is set out in the Regulated Health Professions Act
(RHPA), the Health Professions Procedural Code under RHPA and the Medicine Act.  

The College is exempt from income taxes.

2 Significant accounting policies

These financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations.

(a) Cash 

Cash includes cash deposits held in an interest bearing account at a major financial institution.

(b) Investments

Guaranteed investment certificates are carried at amortized cost.

(c) Capital assets

The cost of a capital asset includes its purchase price and any directly attributable cost of preparing the asset
for its intended use. 

When conditions indicate a capital asset no longer contributes to the College's ability to provide services or
that the value of future economic benefits or service potential associated with the capital asset is less than its
net carrying amount, its net carrying amount is written down to its fair value or replacement costs. As at
December 31, 2022, no such impairment exists.

(i) Tangible assets

Tangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated.

Amortization is provided for, upon the commencement of the utilization of the assets, on a straight-line
basis over their estimated lives as follows:

Building 10 - 25 years Computer and other equipment 3 - 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 10 years Computer equipment under capital lease 2 - 4 years

(ii) Intangible assets

Intangible assets, consisting of separately acquired computer application software, are measured at cost
less accumulated amortization.

Amortization is provided for, upon the commencement of the utilization of the assets, on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of four years.

7
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Pension plans

(i) Healthcare of Ontario Pension Plan

Healthcare of Ontario Pension Plan (“HOOPP”) is a multi employer best five consecutive year average pay
defined benefit pension plan. 

Defined contribution accounting is applied to HOOPP and contributions are expensed when due.

(ii) CPSO Retirement Savings Plan 2019

CPSO Retirement Savings Plan 2019 is a defined contribution plan. Contributions are expensed when
due.

(iii)Designated Employees' Retirement Plan for the College of Physicians and Surgeons on Ontario

The College maintains a closed (1998) defined benefit pension plan and supplementary arrangements for
certain designated former employees. The retirement benefits of these designated employees are
provided firstly through a funded plan and secondly through an unfunded supplementary plan.

The College recognizes its defined benefit obligations as the employees render services giving them right
to earn the pension benefit. The defined benefit obligation at the statement of financial position date is
determined using the most recent actuarial valuation report prepared for accounting purposes. The
measurement date of the plan assets and the defined benefit obligation is the College's statement of
financial position date.

In its year-end statement of financial position, the College recognizes the defined benefit obligation, less
the fair value of plan assets, adjusted for any valuation allowance in the case of a net defined benefit
asset. The plan cost for the year is recognized in the excess of revenues over expenses for the year. Past
service costs resulting from changes in the plan are recognized immediately in the excess of revenue over
expenses for the year at the date of the changes.

Remeasurements and other items comprise the aggregate of the following: the difference between the
actual return on plan assets and the return calculated using the discount rate; actuarial gains and losses;
the effect of any valuation allowance in the case of a net defined pension asset; past service costs; and
gains and losses arising from settlements or curtailments. Remeasurements are recognized as a direct
charge (credit) to net assets.

(e) Revenue recognition

(i) Members' fees and application fees

These fees are set annually by Council and are recognized as revenue proportionately over the fiscal year
to which they relate. Fees received in advance are recorded as deferred revenue.

(ii) Independent Health Facility (IHF) and Out of Hospital Premises Inspection Program (OHPIP) fees

IHF and OHPIP annual and assessment fees are recognized at the same rate as the related costs are
expensed.

(iii)Cost recoveries

Cost recoveries are recognized at the same rate as the related costs are expensed.

(iv)Other income

Other income is recognized as the services are provided, the amount is known and collection is
reasonably assured.

8
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2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Revenue recognition (continued)

(v) Interest and investment income

Interest income is comprised of interest on cash deposits held in an interest bearing account at a major
financial institution. Investment income is comprised of income on guaranteed investment certificates. 

Interest and investment income are recognized when earned. Income on guaranteed growth investment
certificates is determined at maturity based on the percentage change in price of an equally weighted
portfolio of five Canadian bank's shares. Interest is accrued at the minimum guaranteed rates. 

(f) Financial instruments

(i) Measurement

The College initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value, adjusted by, in the
case of a financial instrument that will not be measured subsequently at fair value, the amount of
transaction costs directly attributable to the instrument.

The College subsequently measures its financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost. Transaction costs
are recognized in income in the period incurred.

(ii) Impairment

At the end of each reporting period, the College assesses whether there are any indications that a
financial asset measured at amortized cost may be impaired. When there is an indication of impairment,
the College determines whether a significant adverse change has occurred during the period in the
expected timing or amount of future cash flows from the financial asset.

(g) Management estimates

In preparing the College's financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period. Actual
results may differ from these estimates, the impact of which would be recorded in future periods. Estimates
and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the year in which the estimates are revised and in any future years affected.

(h) Internally restricted reserves

Council has established the following internally restricted reserves:

(i) Invested in capital assets which comprises the net book value of capital assets less the related
obligations under capital leases;

(ii) Building Fund which comprises assets restricted for future building requirements; and

(iii) Intangible Asset Fund which comprises assets restricted for future information technology infrastructure 
development and improvements.

9
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3 Investments

As at December 31 2022 2021

Guaranteed Investment Certificates (GIC)
Bank of Montreal (BMO) Extendible GIC $ 25,000,000 $ 25,000,000
National Bank of Canada (NBC) Canadian Banks Portfolio Flex GIC 25,000,000 25,000,000
Accrued interest 694,192 331,712

$ 50,694,192 $ 50,331,712

The BMO Extendible GIC earns interest at 1.45% and had an initial maturity date of February 1, 2022. The issuer
exercised its option to extend the maturity date on the initial maturity date. The maturity date can continue to be
extended by the issuer in six month increments on each extended maturity date thereafter extending to August 1,
2027. The GIC is not redeemable at the option of the College. At maturity the principal amount of $25,000,000,
plus accrued interest, is guaranteed. The fair market value, including accrued interest, of the GIC as at
December 31, 2022 is $21,632,459 (2021 - $24,139,209).

The NBC Canadian Bank Portfolio Flex GIC matures on January 29, 2026 and earns a return determined at
maturity based on the percentage change in price of an equally weighted portfolio of five Canadian bank's
shares. At maturity the principal amount of $25,000,000 is guaranteed. The fair market value of the GIC as at
December 31, 2022 is $21,832,500 (2021 - $24,212,500).

4 Capital assets

As at December 31 2022 2021

Accumulated Accumulated
Cost Amortization Cost Amortization

Tangible assets

Land $ 2,142,903 $ - $ 2,142,903 $ -
Building and building improvements 21,282,321 17,158,430 21,101,419 16,639,886
Furniture and fixtures 4,625,827 4,289,074 4,571,754 4,155,683
Computer and other equipment 2,960,347 2,868,451 1,984,487 1,951,546
Computer equipment under capital lease 3,850,304 2,874,858 4,038,383 3,033,123

Intangible assets

Computer application software 12,368,526 5,425,924 11,122,247 2,352,609

47,230,228 32,616,737 44,961,193 28,132,847

Net book value $ 14,613,491 $ 16,828,346

10
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5 Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue consists of membership fees received in advance for the next year as well as unearned fees
related to the Independent Health Facility program (IHF) and Out of Hospital Premises Inspection Program
(OHPIP). The change in the deferred revenue accounts for the year is as follows:

Membership 2022 2021
Fees IHF OHPIP Total Total

Balance, beginning of year $ 28,645,293 $ 3,392,841 $ 1,202,815 $ 33,240,949 $ 33,250,440
Amounts billed during the year 69,490,715 1,398,430 1,348,714 72,237,859 70,305,866
Less: Recognized as revenue (68,881,162) (2,269,119) (1,339,476) (72,489,757) (70,315,357)

Balance, end of year $ 29,254,846 $ 2,522,152 $ 1,212,053 $ 32,989,051 $ 33,240,949

The IHF and OHPIP Programs are budgeted and billed on a cost recovery basis.

6 Employee future benefits

(a) Designated Employees' Retirement Plan and Supplementary Arrangements

(i) Reconciliation of funded status of the defined benefit pension plan to the amount recorded in the
statement of financial position

Defined Benefit Plan Funded Unfunded 2022 2021
Plan Plan Total Total

Plan assets at fair value $ 2,053,650 $ - $ 2,053,650 $ 2,698,132
Accrued pension obligations (3,084,053) (3,512,413) (6,596,466) (7,954,282)

Funded status - deficit $ (1,030,403) $ (3,512,413) $ (4,542,816) $ (5,256,150)

(ii) Pension plan assets

Defined Benefit Plan Funded Unfunded 2022 2021
Plan Plan Total Total

Fair value, beginning of year $ 2,698,132 $ - $ 2,698,132 $ 2,845,069
Interest income 72,850 - 72,850 62,592
Return (loss) on plan assets

(excluding interest) (382,787) - (382,787) 112,592
Employer contributions - 296,102 296,102 291,856
Benefits paid (334,545) (296,102) (630,647) (613,977)

Fair value, end of year $ 2,053,650 $ - $ 2,053,650 $ 2,698,132

11
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6 Employee future benefits (continued)

(a) Designated Employees' Retirement Plan and Supplementary Arrangements (continued)

(iii)Accrued pension obligations

Defined Benefit Plan Funded Unfunded 2022 2021
Plan Plan Total Total

Balance, beginning of year $ 3,689,691 $ 4,264,591 $ 7,954,282 $ 8,164,867
Interest cost on accrued pension obligations 99,622 115,144 214,766 179,627
Benefits paid (334,545) (296,102) (630,647) (613,977)
Actuarial (gains) losses (370,715) (571,220) (941,935) 223,765

$ 3,084,053 $ 3,512,413 $ 6,596,466 $ 7,954,282

The most recent actuarial valuation of the pension plan for funding purposes was made effective
December 31, 2021. The next required actuarial valuation for funding purposes must be as of a date no
later than December 31, 2024.

(iv)The net expense for the College's pension plans is as follows:

2022 2021

Funded defined benefit plan $ 26,772 $ 20,797
Unfunded supplementary defined benefit plan 115,144 96,238
Defined contribution plan 659,766 708,993
Healthcare of Ontario Pension Plan 3,323,141 3,019,898

$ 4,124,823 $ 3,845,926

(v) The elements of the defined benefit pension expense recognized in the year are as follows:

Defined Benefit Plan Funded Unfunded 2022 2021
Plan Plan Total Total

Interest cost on accrued pension obligations $ 99,622 $ 115,144 $ 214,766 $ 179,627
Interest income on pension assets (72,850) - (72,850) (62,592)

Pension expense recognized $ 26,772 $ 115,144 $ 141,916 $ 117,035

(vi) Remeasurements and other items recognized as a direct charge (credit) to net assets are as follows:

Defined Benefit Plan Funded Unfunded 2022 2021
Plan Plan Total Total

Actuarial (gains) losses $ (370,717) $ (571,220) $ (941,937) $ 223,765
Return (loss) on plan assets 

(excluding interest) 382,787 - 382,787 (112,592)

Charge to net assets $ 12,070 $ (571,220) $ (559,150) $ 111,173

12
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6 Employee future benefits (continued)

(a) Designated Employees' Retirement Plan and Supplementary Arrangements (continued)

(vii) Actuarial assumptions

The significant actuarial assumptions adopted in measuring the accrued pension obligations as at
December 31 are as follows:

2022 2021

Discount rate 5.00 % 2.70 %

(b) Healthcare of Ontario Pension Plan 

Employer contributions made to the plan during the year total $3,323,141 (2021 - $3,019,898). These
amounts are included in staffing costs in the statement of operations.

Each year an independent actuary determines the funding status of HOOPP by comparing the actuarial value
of invested assets to the estimated present value of all pension benefits that members have earned to date.
The most recent actuarial valuation of the Plan as at December 31, 2022 indicates the Plan is 112% funded.
HOOPP’s statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022 disclosed total pension obligations of
$92.7 billion with net assets at that date of $103.7 billion indicating a surplus of $11 billion.

(c) Restructuring benefits

The College continues to restructure its affairs during the year for the purpose of achieving long-term savings,
which resulted in severance benefits to employees in the amount of $2,721,876 (2021 - $2,006,829), which
has been included in staffing costs. 

7 Obligations under capital leases

The College has entered into capital leases for computer equipment. The following is a schedule of the future
minimum lease payments over the term of the leases:

2023 $ 500,341
2024 287,022
2025 188,083

975,446
Less: current portion 500,341

$ 475,105

13
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8 Internally restricted net assets

Invested in Intangible Building  Pension Re-
2022 Capital Assets Asset Fund Fund  measurement

Balance, January 1 $ 15,823,086 $ 3,980,899 $ 60,700,276 $ (1,284,280)
Deficiency of revenue over expenses for the year (4,541,294) - - -
Transfer to Intangible Asset Fund - 6,824,198 - -
Actuarial remeasurement for pensions   - - - 559,150
Transfer to Invested in Capital Assets 2,356,253 - - -

Balance, December 31 $ 13,638,045 $ 10,805,097 $ 60,700,276 $ (725,130)

Invested in Intangible Building  Pension Re-
2021 Capital Assets Asset Fund Fund  measurement

Balance, January 1 $ 13,353,046 $ 2,000,000 $ 60,700,276 $ (1,173,107)
Deficiency of revenue over expenses for the year (3,503,959) - - -
Transfer to Intangible Asset Fund - 1,980,899 - -
Actuarial remeasurement for pension - - - (111,173)
Transfer to Invested in Capital Assets 5,973,999 - - -

Balance, December 31 $ 15,823,086 $ 3,980,899 $ 60,700,276 $ (1,284,280)

Net assets invested in capital assets is calculated as follows:

As at December 31 2022 2021

Net book value of capital assets $ 14,613,491 $ 16,828,346
Less: obligations under capital leases (975,446) (1,005,260)

$ 13,638,045 $ 15,823,086

9 Commitments

The College has a lease for additional office space which extends to February 28, 2024. Minimum payments for
base rent and estimated maintenance, taxes and insurance in aggregate and for each year of the current term
are estimated as follows:

2023 $ 782,404
2024 123,117
Total $ 905,521

10 Contingencies

The College has been named as a defendant in lawsuits with respect to certain of its members or former
members. The College denies any liability with respect to these actions and no amounts have been accrued in
the financial statements. Should the College be unsuccessful in defending these claims, it is not anticipated that
they will exceed the limits of the College's liability insurance coverage.

14
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11 Financial instruments

General objectives, policies and processes

Council has overall responsibility for the determination of the College's risk management objectives and policies.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by
failing to discharge an obligation. The College is exposed to credit risk through its cash, accounts receivable and
investments.

Credit risk associated with cash and investments is mitigated by ensuring that these assets are invested in
financial obligations of major financial institutions.

Accounts receivable are generally unsecured. This risk is mitigated by the College's requirement for members to
pay their fees in order to renew their annual license to practice medicine. The College also has collection policies
in place.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the College will not be able to meet a demand for cash or fund its obligations as they
come due. The College meets its liquidity requirements and mitigates this risk by monitoring cash activities and
expected outflows by holding cash.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices. Market risk is comprised of currency risk, interest rate risk and equity risk.

(i) Currency risk

Currency risk reflects the risk that the College's earnings will vary due to the fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates. The College is not significantly exposed to foreign exchange risk.

(ii) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows associated
with the instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. The exposure of the College to
interest rate risk arises from its interest bearing investments and cash. The primary objective of the College
with respect to its fixed income investments ensures the security of principal amounts invested, provides for a
high degree of liquidity, and achieves a satisfactory investment return giving consideration to risk. The
College has mitigated exposure to interest rate risk.

(iii)Equity risk

Equity risk is the uncertainty associated with the valuation of assets arising from changes in equity markets.
The College is not exposed to this risk.

Changes in risk

There have been no significant changes in risk exposures from the prior year.

15
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Schedule I - Staffing costs

Year ended December 31 2022 2021

Salaries $ 41,596,600 $ 41,679,796
Employee benefits 5,628,852 4,741,440
Pension (note 6) 4,124,823 3,845,926
Training, conferences and employee engagement 884,860 1,297,111
Professional association fees 125,803 143,325

$ 52,360,938 $ 51,707,598

Schedule II - Per diem

Year ended December 31 2022 2021

Attendance $ 3,838,874 $ 2,929,045
Preparation time 2,879,945 2,895,023
Decision writing 1,093,725 1,208,111
Travel time 677,543 411,359
HST on per diems 512,456 425,620

$ 9,002,543 $ 7,869,158

Schedule III - Other costs

Year ended December 31 2022 2021

Software $ 3,362,074 $ 2,382,274
Credit card service charges 1,688,446 1,628,051
Meals and accommodations 618,370 195,328
Survivors fund 567,560 241,476
Travel 458,983 169,542
FMRAC membership fee 454,528 454,578
Reporting and transcripts 405,166 461,481
Telephone 379,172 408,998
Members dialogue 360,649 360,445
Equipment leasing 288,845 104,998
Miscellaneous 243,248 560,903
Offsite storage 213,668 192,813
Publications and subscriptions 172,938 164,444
Photocopying 171,679 137,841
Office supplies 156,185 115,203
Equipment maintenance 120,010 33,104
Grants 74,000 74,000
Postage 64,102 94,050
Courier 26,165 26,200

$ 9,825,788 $ 7,805,729
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Schedule IV - Professional fees

Year ended December 31 2022 2021

Consultant $ 3,231,121 $ 3,723,378
Legal 855,482 916,475
Recruiting 200,088 169,530
Audit 66,840 77,061

$ 4,353,531 $ 4,886,444

Schedule V - Occupancy

Year ended December 31 2022 2021

Insurance $ 776,044 $ 723,127
Building maintenance and repairs 690,516 878,364
Rent 666,412 748,012
Utilities 185,518 167,515
Realty taxes 116,655 112,793

$ 2,435,145 $ 2,629,811
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Motion Title Approval of the Audited Financial Statements for fiscal 

year 2022 
Date of Meeting June 8, 2023 

 
 
It is moved by____________________, and seconded by_____________________, that: 
 
The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario approves the audited 
financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, as presented (a copy of 
which forms Appendix “ ” to the minutes of this meeting).  
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Motion Title Appointment of the Auditors (for fiscal year 2023) 
Date of Meeting June 8, 2023 

 
 
It is moved by____________________, and seconded by_____________________, that: 
 
The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario appoints Tinkham LLP, 
Chartered Accountants, as auditors to hold office until the next annual financial meeting of 
Council.  
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June 2023 
 

Topic: Draft Regulations for Consultation – Physician Assistant Regulation  

Purpose: For Decision 

Relevance to 
Strategic Plan: 

Right-Touch Regulation 
System Collaboration 

Public Interest 
Rationale: 

Bringing physician assistants under the authority of CPSO will ensure the 
protection of patients and work to fulfill our public interest mandate. 

Main Contact(s): Tanya Terzis, Interim Manager, Policy   
Alex Wong, Policy Analyst  
Stephanie Sonawane, Policy Analyst  

Attachment(s): Appendix A: Draft Enabling Regulation 
Appendix B: Draft Registration Regulation 
Appendix C: Draft Quality Assurance (CPD) Regulation 
Appendix D: Draft Professional Misconduct Regulation 

 
Issue 

 
• Council is provided with an overview of proposed regulatory changes required to bring 

physician assistants (PAs) under CPSO’s oversight and key considerations moving forward. 
  

• Council is asked for approval to release the draft regulatory amendments for circulation 
and an external public consultation for 60 days.  

 
Background  
 
• On June 3, 2021, Bill 283, the legislation that would enable CPSO to regulate PAs, received 

Royal Assent and Council received an update regarding the bill at its June 2021 meeting.  
 

• Following the bill’s passage, CPSO moved quickly to initiate work on implementing PA 
regulation. In the fall of 2021, work was significantly delayed due to uncertainty regarding 
the core regulatory framework being designed but resumed in earnest in summer of 2022.  

 

• The legislation and CPSO’s oversight of PAs will not be enacted until a later date, which the 
provincial government has signalled will be in 2024, in order to give time for the necessary 
regulatory amendments to be developed and approved.  
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Current Status and Analysis 
 

• A full review of all existing regulations under the Medicine Act, 1991 and the Regulated 
Health Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA) was undertaken to identify where amendments will be 
required as PAs become members of the CPSO. This review has led to the development of 
four regulatory amendments under the Medicine Act, 1991. 
 

o While the regulatory amendments proposed are CPSO’s to make, government 
ultimately must approve and enact these changes.  

 
• In drafting the regulations, staff have aimed to set high-level expectations, align with the 

principles of right-touch regulation, and be mindful of the need to future-proof this work. 
Staff have also sought input from both government and the Canadian Association of 
Physician Assistants to inform the drafting of the regulations.  

 
Enabling Regulation (amendment to O. Reg. 114/94: General) (Appendix A) 

 
• A key principle in CPSO’s presentation to the Legislative Committee and throughout 

negotiations with government was the importance of maintaining the status quo of the 
existing relationship between physicians and PAs. This approach relies on maintaining the 
existing delegation framework as set out in CPSO’s Delegation of Controlled Acts policy.  

 
• The legislative framework requires that regulations be developed to articulate how PAs will 

perform controlled acts as they have not been granted independent authorization through 
the legislation to perform these acts.  

 
• In keeping with well-established principles of delegation while also continuing to provide 

flexibility for future policy or practice changes, the draft regulation stipulates:  
 

o That a PA member shall only perform controlled acts if delegated to by a physician, 
with the exception of psychotherapy, which cannot be delegated; 
 

o PAs may not sub-delegate a controlled act that has been delegated to them; and 
 

o The conditions in which a physician may delegate an act and the conditions in which 
a PA may accept the delegation of this act (e.g., where the act is within the 
physician’s scope of practice and the PA has the competence to perform the act). 

 
• Unlike other Canadian jurisdictions where PAs are regulated (Manitoba, New Brunswick, 

and Alberta), this approach does not contemplate specifying specific supervisory 
relationships between a physician and a PA. Rather, and in keeping with the current 
delegation framework, it enables greater flexibility by allowing PAs to support multiple 
physicians and practise in multiple settings. 
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Registration Regulation (amendment to O. Reg. 865/93: Registration) (Appendix B) 
 
• The existing Registration regulation sets out entry-to-practice requirements for CPSO 

members. The general non-exemptible standards and qualifications under Section 2 for 
physician members will also apply to PAs and do not require amendments. These include 
good character, payment of relevant fees, and acquiring professional liability insurance. 

 
• Amendments are proposed to set out the registration requirements for PAs. Namely, that 

an applicant must:  
 

o Be a graduate of an accredited or approved degree-granting program designed to 
train PAs;  
 

o Obtain either Canadian certification or the equivalent American certification, or 
another certification as approved by Council.  
 

• The proposed amendments include giving Council the ongoing power to approve new 
education programs and accreditation bodies as the PA profession expands and to support 
the inclusion of internationally educated PAs over time.   
 

• The draft amendment also includes a transitional grandparenting provision to enable two 
specific cohorts who are duly trained and who are currently practising as PAs but do not 
meet the standards and qualifications set out in the proposed regulation to register as 
members. The transitional provision aims to capture: 

 
o Individuals who have successfully completed the Canadian Armed Forces Physician 

Assistant Program; and 
 

o Individuals who have successfully completed the Physician Assistant Integration 
Program, which is a historical, assessment-based program that enabled 
internationally educated physicians to become PAs.  
 

• In keeping with a new requirement under the RHPA for health regulatory colleges to make 
regulations creating an emergency class of registration, an Emergency Circumstances 
Practice Class for Physician Assistants has also been developed. The PA Emergency 
Circumstances Practice Class aligns with what has been developed for physicians, which 
was approved by Council in April 2023 and is currently being finalized with government. 
 

Quality Assurance Regulation (amendment to O. Reg. 114/94: General, Part VII) (Appendix C) 
 
• The Health Professions Procedural Code sets out the minimum requirements for a quality 

assurance program, which will apply equally to PA members of the College as it does to 
physician members. The core requirements of the quality assurance program, as set out in 
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the Quality Assurance sections of the regulation, will therefore be the same: peer and 
practice assessments, continuing professional development (CPD), and self-assessments. 
 

• While much of the quality assurance regulation is broad enough to apply to PAs without 
amendment, changes are required to the CPD section to distinguish the PA CPD program 
from the program for physicians and to create a mechanism for tracking PA CPD. 
 

• Specifically, new provisions have been drafted to require that PAs participate in a program 
of CPD and that PAs shall, each year, provide to the College proof of their participation that 
is satisfactory to the College. The drafting is purposefully broad to provide CPSO with 
discretion on the precise obligations relating to tracking and monitoring CPD. 

 
Professional Misconduct Regulation (amendment to O. Reg. 856/93: Registration) (Appendix D) 
 
• The existing professional misconduct regulation will apply equally to PA members of the 

College. However, one small amendment is required to add “physician assistant” to the 
existing “conduct unbecoming a physician.” 

 
Regulations not requiring amendments   
 
• It was determined that no changes were needed to the regulations setting out obligations 

concerning records, the out-of-hospital premises inspection program, advertising, conflicts 
of interest, or funding for therapy and counselling. In all of these instances, the analysis 
suggested that there were no grounds to broadly exclude PAs from the existing regimes 
and the application will depend on each specific scenario/practice environment.   

 
Next Steps 
 
• If approved by Council, the regulations will be released for consultation for a 60-day period 

per the requirements set out in s. 95(1.4) of the Health Professions Procedural Code and 
circulated for notice in accordance with s. 22.21 of the Health Professions Procedural Code. 
 

• Following consultation, the feedback received will be assessed and amendments to the 
draft regulations will be considered. Council will receive a final package of draft regulatory 
amendments at a later meeting date to approve for submission to government.  

 
Question for Council  
 
1. Does Council approve the draft regulatory amendments for circulation and consultation? 
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Enabling Mechanism (Delegation) – General Regulation Amendments 

NOTE: The following new sections will need to be added in order to set out the enabling 
mechanism for PAs. 

O. Reg. 114/94: General.  Made under the Medicine Act, 1991.

PART XII 

Physician Assistants 

52. (1) A member who is a physician assistant shall only perform an act under the
authority of section 4 if the performance of the act has been delegated to the member 
who is a physician assistant by a member who is a physician. 

(2) Despite subsection (1), a member who is a physician shall not delegate to a member
who is a physician assistant the authorized act of treating, by means of psychotherapy 
technique delivered through a therapeutic relationship, an individual’s serious disorder 
of thought, cognition, mood, emotional regulation, perception or memory that may 
seriously impair the individual’s judgment, insight, behaviour, communication or social 
functioning. 

(3) A member who is a physician assistant shall not delegate the performance of an act
that has been delegated to them. 

(4) A member who is a physician shall ensure, before delegating an authorized act to a
member who is a physician assistant, that, 

(a) The member who is a physician has the knowledge, skill and judgment to
perform the authorized act safely and competently themselves; and

(b) The member who is a physician is satisfied, after taking reasonable steps, that
the member who is a physician assistant has the knowledge, skill and judgment
to perform the act safely and competently.

(5) A member who is a physician assistant is entitled to presume that a member who is
a physician is permitted to delegate an authorized act to them, unless the member who 
is a physician assistant has reasonable grounds to believe otherwise.  

(6) A member who is a physician assistant shall only perform an authorized act
delegated to them by a member who is a physician if, before performing the authorized 
act, the member who is a physician assistant ensures that they have the knowledge, 
skill and judgement to perform the authorized act safely and competently. 
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Registration Regulation Amendments 

NOTE: The existing general requirements under this regulation will apply to both 
physician and PA members of CPSO. Two new sections (see below) will need to be 
added in order to set out entry-to-practice requirements for PAs and create an 
emergency class of registration for PAs. 

O. Reg 865/93: Registration.  Made under the Medicine Act, 1991.

Physician Assistant - General 

9.1 The standards and qualifications for a certificate of registration authorizing practice 
as a physician assistant are as follows: 

(1) The applicant must have a minimum of a baccalaureate degree evidencing
the successful completion of a program designed to educate and train
persons to be practising physician assistants which was:

a. accredited by the Canadian Medical Association or Accreditation
Canada at the time the applicant graduated;

b. accredited by the Accreditation Review Commission on Education for
the Physician Assistant (ARC-PA) at the time the applicant graduated;

c. another accrediting body as approved by Council; or

d. another program as approved by Council; and

(2) The applicant must hold certification as a physician assistant as follows:

a. Canadian Certified Physician Assistant (CCPA) certification by the
Physician Assistant Certification Council of Canada (PACCC);

b. Physician Assistant-Certified (PA-C) by the National Commission on
Certification of Physician Assistants NCCPA (US); or

c. another certification as approved by Council.

9.2 (1) Where section 22.18 of the Health Professions Procedural Code applies to an 
applicant for a certificate of registration authorizing practice as a physician assistant, 
the applicant is deemed to have met the requirements of subsection 9.1. 

(2) Where an applicant to whom subsection (1) applies is unable to satisfy the Registrar
or a panel of the Registration Committee that the applicant practised the profession of 
medicine to the extent that would be permitted by a certificate of registration 
authorizing practice as a physician assistant at any time in the three years immediately 
preceding the date of that applicant’s application, the applicant must meet any further 
requirement to undertake, obtain or undergo material additional training, experience, 
examinations or assessments that may be specified by a panel of the Registration 
Committee.  
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(3) Despite subsection (1), an applicant is not deemed to have met a requirement if that
requirement is described in subsection 22.18 (3) of the Health Professions Procedural 
Code. 

Transition 

9.3 The following apply for the first 24 months after the day this Regulation comes into 
force, 

Paragraph (1) of subsection 9.1. does not apply in respect of an application for a 
certificate of registration authorizing practice as a physician assistant where: 

(a) the applicant successfully completed the Canadian Armed Forces Health
Training Centre Physician Assistant Program or the Ontario Physician
Assistant Integration Program by the Centre for the Evaluation of Health
Professionals Educated Abroad; and

(b) the applicant is able to satisfy the Registrar or a panel of the Registration
Committee that the applicant engaged in practice in Canada within the scope
of a physician assistant during the two-year period that immediately preceded
the date that the applicant submitted their application.

Physician Assistants - Emergency Circumstances Practice 

9.4 (1) The standards and qualifications for a certificate of registration authorizing 
practice in emergency circumstances for physician assistants are as follows:  

1. The Minister has requested the College to initiate registrations under this class
based on the Minister’s opinion that emergency circumstances call for it, or
Council has determined that there are emergency circumstances, and that it is in
the public interest that the College issue emergency certificates of registration
for physician assistants to address the emergency circumstances.

2. The applicant must have a minimum of a baccalaureate degree evidencing the
successful completion of a program designed to educate and train persons to be
practising physician assistants which was:

(a) accredited by the Canadian Medical Association or Accreditation
Canada at the time the applicant graduated;

(b) accredited by the Accreditation Review Commission on Education
for the Physician Assistant (ARC-PA) at the time the applicant
graduated;

(c) accredited by another accrediting body as approved by Council; or

(d) a program as approved by Council.
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3. The applicant must have any other standard or qualification that Council has
identified as necessary in order for emergency certificates of registration for
physician assistants to assist in addressing the determined emergency
circumstances.

(2) The requirements of paragraphs 1, 2, and 3 of subsection (1) are non-exemptible.

(3) It is a term, condition and limitation of a certificate of registration authorizing
practice in emergency circumstances for physician assistants that: 

1. The certificate expires the earlier of the following:

(a) one year from the date the certificate was issued or renewed; or

(b) the 90th day after Council declares that the emergency circumstances
have ended; and

2. The holder must adhere to any other terms, conditions and limitations that
Council has identified as necessary in order for holders of emergency certificates
of registration for physician assistants to assist in addressing the determined
emergency circumstances.

(4) The Registrar may renew a certificate of registration authorizing practice in
emergency circumstances for one or more periods, each of which is not to exceed one 
year, if Council has not declared that the emergency circumstances have ended. 

9.5 (1) An applicant who in the year immediately preceding their application for a 
certificate of registration authorizing practice as a physician assistant, has held a 
certificate of registration issued by the College authorizing practice in emergency 
circumstances for physician assistants, is exempt from the standards and 
qualifications required under clause 2(2)(c), only in respect of payment of the relevant 
application fee but not in respect of payment of the annual membership fee. 
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Quality Assurance (CPD) – General Regulation Amendments 

NOTE: Amendments are required to s. 29 to distinguish the CPD program for 
physicians. A new s. 29.1 sets out the CPD requirements for PAs.  

O. Reg. 114/94: General.  Made under the Medicine Act, 1991.

Part VII, ss. 26-29 – Quality Assurance and CPD 

CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND SELF-ASSESSMENT 

29. (1) Members who are physicians shall participate in a program of
continuing professional development that includes a self-assessment component and
that meets the requirements for continuing professional development set by the Royal
College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada or the College of Family Physicians of
Canada.  O. Reg. 346/11, s. 1.

(2) As evidence of a member who is a physician’s participation in a program of
continuing professional development, members who are physicians shall, each year,
provide to the College,

(a) in the case of a program of continuing professional development offered
by the Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons of Canada or by the
College of Family Physicians of Canada, proof of the member’s
participation that is satisfactory to the Committee; or

(b) in the case of a program of continuing professional development offered
by an organization other than the Royal College of Physicians and
Surgeons of Canada or the College of Family Physicians of Canada that
has been approved by the Council for that purpose, written confirmation,
satisfactory to the Committee, that the member has completed a program
of continuing professional development that meets the requirements for
continuing professional development set by the Royal College of
Physicians and Surgeons of Canada or the College of Family Physicians of
Canada.  O. Reg. 346/11, s. 1.

(3) A member who is a physician shall maintain a record of his or her participation in a
program of continuing professional development in the form and manner approved by
the Committee and shall retain the record for a minimum of 10 years from the date of
his or her participation in the program.  O. Reg. 346/11, s. 1.

(4) At the request of the Committee, an assessor or an employee of the College, a
member who is a physician shall submit his or her record of participation in a program
of continuing professional development to the College within the time period specified
in the request or, if no time period is specified, within 30 days of the request.  O. Reg.
346/11, s. 1.
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29.1 (1) Members who are physician assistants shall participate in a program of 
continuing professional development that meets the requirements for continuing 
professional development set by the certifying body of the member. 

(2) As evidence of a member who is a physician assistant’s participation in a program
of continuing professional development, members who are physician assistants shall, 
each year, provide to the College proof of the member’s participation that is satisfactory 
to the Committee. 

(3) A member who is a physician assistant shall maintain a record of his or her
participation in a program of continuing professional development in the form and 
manner approved by the Committee and shall retain the record for a minimum of 10 
years from the date of his or her participation in the program. 

(4) At the request of the Committee, an assessor or an employee of the College, a
member who is a physician assistant shall submit his or her record of participation in a 
program of continuing professional development to the College within the time 
period specified in the request or, if no time period is specified, within 30 days of the 
request. 
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Professional Misconduct Regulation Amendments 

NOTE: The following amendment is required in order to capture PAs within this heading 
of professional misconduct. 

O. Reg 856/93: Professional Misconduct.  Made under the Medicine Act, 1991.

1. (1) The following are acts of professional misconduct for the purposes of clause 51
(1) (c) of the Health Professions Procedural Code:

…

34. Conduct unbecoming a physician or physician assistant.
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Motion Title Draft Regulations for Consultation – Physician Assistant 

Regulation 
Date of Meeting June 8, 2023 

 
 
It is moved by____________________, and seconded by_____________________, that: 
 
The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario release for external 
consultation and engage in the notice and consultation process in accordance with Section 
22.21 of the Health Professions Procedural Code, in respect of the draft physician assistant 
regulatory amendments to the Medicine Act, 1991 regulations (a copy of which amendments 
form Appendices “ “, “ “, “ “, and “ “ to the minutes of this meeting). 
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Motion Title Motion to Go In-Camera  

Date of Meeting June 8, 2023 
 
 
It is moved by____________________, and seconded by_____________________, that: 
 
The Council of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario exclude the public from the 
part of the meeting immediately after this motion is passed, under clauses 7(2)(b) and (d) of 
the Health Professions Procedural Code (set out below).   
 

Exclusion of public 

7(2) Despite subsection (1), the Council may exclude the public from any meeting or part of a 
meeting if it is satisfied that, 

(b)  financial or personal or other matters may be disclosed of such a nature that the harm 
created by the disclosure would outweigh the desirability of adhering to the principle 
that meetings be open to the public; and  

(d)  personnel matters or property acquisitions will be discussed. 
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